

## **Contents**

	Pages
Corporate Information	2
Financial Highlights	4
Chairman's Statement	5
Management Discussion and Analysis	8
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management	15
Directors' Report	21
Corporate Governance Report	38
Environmental, Social and Governance Report	56
Independent Auditor's Report	75
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	82
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	83
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	85
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	86
Notes to the Financial Statements	87

## **Corporate Information**

#### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Liu Haogiong (Chairman)

Mr. Peng Shengqian

Ms. Xie Xiaolan

Mr. Liu Dingli

Mr. Liu Dingyi

Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang

#### **Independent Non-executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Shiyong

Mr. Li Yinguo

Mr. Zhu Yugang

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

Mr. Yu Shiyong (Chairman)

Mr. Li Yinguo

Mr. Zhu Yugang

#### **NOMINATION COMMITTEE**

Mr. Zhu Yugang (Chairman)

Mr. Yu Shiyong

Mr. Liu Dingli

#### **REMUNERATION COMMITTEE**

Mr. Li Yinguo (Chairman)

Mr. Peng Shengqian

Mr. Yu Shiyong

## AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Liu Dingyi

Ms. Wong Wai Yee, Ella

#### JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Liu Dingyi

Ms. Wong Wai Yee, Ella

#### **AUDITOR**

**KPMG** 

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance

with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince's Building

10 Chater Road, Central, Hong Kong

## LEGAL ADVISER (AS TO HONG KONG LAW)

Li & Partners

22nd Floor

World-Wide House

19 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

#### **COMPLIANCE ADVISER**

Zhongtai International Capital Limited

19th Floor

Li Po Chun Chambers

189 Des Voeux Road Central

Central

Hong Kong

### **Corporate Information (Continued)**

#### **REGISTERED OFFICE**

89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay Grand Cayman, KY1-9009 Cayman Islands

## HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN PRC

Room 101, Block 99
2799 Tianxiang Avenue
Nanchang Jiahai Industrial Park
Nanchang High-tech Industrial Development Zone
Nanchang City
Jiangxi Province, the PRC

## PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1915, 19/F Lee Garden One 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay Hong Kong

## CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay Grand Cayman, KY1-9009 Cayman Islands

## HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited 17/F Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road Hong Kong

#### PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Construction Bank Corporation, Nanchang Xihu Branch Bank of Communication Co., Ltd, Jiangxi Provincial Branch

#### WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.gantongjt.com

#### STOCK CODE

2545

## **Financial Highlights**

The following is a summary of the annual financial results and the assets and liabilities of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Holdings Limited (the "**Company**", together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "**Group**") for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

The following is a summary of the published annual financial results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years.

	For the year ended 31 December				
	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000	2022 RMB'000	2021 RMB'000	2020 RMB'000
Results					
Revenue	551,062	609,301	413,091	479,118	336,547
Profit from operations Finance costs	38,828 (15,325)	86,692 (16,682)	54,272 (15,332)	52,399 (11,480)	53,048 (16,902)
Profit before taxation Income tax	23,503 (13,794)	70,010 (1,339)	38,940 (3,965)	40,919 (4,746)	36,146 (3,840)
Profit for the year	9,709	68,671	34,975	36,173	32,306
Attributable to:  Equity shareholders of the Company	9,709	68,592	34,473	36,173	32,306
Non-controlling interests	-	79	502	-	
Profit for the year	9,709	68,671	34,975	36,173	32,306
		As	at 31 Decembe	er	
	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000	2022 RMB'000	2021 RMB'000	2020 RMB'000
Assets and liabilities					
Non-current assets Current assets Current liabilities Non-current liabilities	92,492 1,309,068 975,878 1,778	93,917 1,067,437 1,031,170 1,962	95,685 938,830 845,341 1,900	98,354 798,647 769,397 3,068	73,508 620,878 554,652 9,735
NET ASSETS	423,904	128,222	187,274	124,536	129,999
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company Non-controlling interests	423,904 -	128,222 -	185,256 2,018	124,536 -	129,999 -
TOTAL EQUITY	423,904	128,222	187,274	124,536	129,999

### **Chairman's Statement**

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the "Board") of Directors (the "Director(s)") of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Holdings Limited (the "Company"), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Reporting Period").

2024 is the first year of the listing of the Company. The Company was successfully listed (the "Listing") on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") on 3 July 2024 (the "Listing Date") and raised net proceeds (after deducting the listing expenses) of approximately HK\$141.9 million, which implies that the business development, competitive advantages and future prospects of the Company were recognised in the international capital market.

#### I. BUSINESS REVIEW

#### (1) Business growth and market performance

Looking back to 2024, amid fierce market competition and technological iterations, the collective efforts and relentless dedication of our entire team enabled us to establish presence in five new provinces encompassing Shanxi, Xinjiang, Anhui, Ningxia and Heilongjiang in this year, which further expanded our market coverage with our business footprints covering 28 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions across China. Our long-standing and steadfast partnerships with major clients, including the Big Three Telecom Operators and China Tower, have laid a solid foundation for the sustained growth of our business.

#### (2) Financial performance

Amidst ever-changing market and intensifying competition, the Company's revenue from Telecommunications Infrastructure Services remained stable, while revenue from Digitalisation Solution Services declined. In 2024, the Company achieved a revenue of RMB551.1 million, with a net profit of RMB9.7 million.

#### (3) Technological innovation and R&D investment

The Company has continuously ramped up R&D investment in 5G network optimisation, IoT, big data and artificial intelligence, among other fields. Capitalising on technological innovation, the Company has rolled out a number of digitalisation solutions with independent intellectual property rights, further cementing its competitive edge in the industry. Additionally, the Company has proactively gained a foothold in 6G and quantum communication technologies to foster a firm foundation for our future business development.

### **Chairman's Statement (Continued)**

#### II. OUTLOOK

In 2025, we will continue to reinforce and extend our leading position in developed markets while actively tapping into new regional markets. With the acceleration of global digitalisation transformation, the demand for communication technologies is continuously rising, presenting immense growth potential. We will further shore up our market competitiveness through technological innovation and premier services.

The Group will focus on the research and development of 6G communication technology and computing power enhancement, further bolstering the operational capacity of computing power infrastructures to offer a driving force for AI development. Leveraging continuous technological innovation, the Company will secure a more advantageous position in the communications market in the coming future. Moving forward, the Group will further optimise its governance structure, elevate operational efficiency and ensure the effective utilisation of funds. By maintaining prudent financial management, the Group is dedicated to delivering higher investment returns for its shareholders.

The Board considers that the Listing has impacted the perception of customers towards the Group and believes that the Listing is a form of complementary advertising which will further enhance the corporate profile, assist in reinforcing the brand awareness and market reputation, enhance the credibility with the public and potential business partners and offer the Company a broader shareholder base which will provide liquidity in the trading of the shares of the Company (the "**Shares**").

There was no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the prospectus (the "**Prospectus**") of the Company in relation to the global offering of the Shares (the "**Global Offering**") dated 21 June 2024, and the expected timeline for the use of net proceeds will be subject to the business development of the Company. Please refer to "Directors' Report – Use of Proceeds from Global Offering" in this annual report for details.

## **Chairman's Statement (Continued)**

#### III. CONCLUSION

The year 2024 marks a significant milestone in the development of the Group. Our successful listing has spearheaded us to usher in a new era. Looking forward, we will continue to uphold our development philosophy of innovation-driven growth, customer centricity and win-win cooperation, striving to achieve high-quality development for the Company and create greater value for our shareholders.

We are keenly aware that every step of the Company's progress is inseparable from the support and trust of our shareholders. On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our sincerest gratitude to all employees, business partners and shareholders once again. Let us cling together to create an even brighter future for Zhonggan Communication!

Liu Haoqiong

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

### **Management Discussion and Analysis**

#### **BUSINESS REVIEW**

#### **OVERVIEW**

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2024. The Group is a reputable integrated service provider and software developer headquartered in Jiangxi Province of the People's Republic of China (the "**PRC**") and focuses on the provision of Telecommunications Infrastructure Services and Digitalisation Solution Services in the PRC.

#### TELECOMMUNICATIONS INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES

The customers of the Group's Telecommunications Infrastructure Services mainly include telecommunications network operators, telecommunications tower infrastructure service providers, local governments, quasi-government institutions and state-owned enterprises. The Group's main business models for Telecommunications Infrastructure Services are:

- Infrastructure Construction Services mainly involve the construction, adaptation and installation works of network infrastructure along the entire telecommunications network, such as base stations and auxiliary facilities engineering services, power grid connection services, cable installation services, access network related services and wireless network equipment installation services.
- 2. Infrastructure Maintenance Services mainly involve carrying out routine basic maintenance, repairs and restoration works and emergency trouble-shooting to the telecommunications infrastructure located across rural and urban areas in the PRC.

#### **DIGITALISATION SOLUTION SERVICES**

The Digitalisation Solution Services consist of Integrated Solution Services, System Maintenance Services and Software Solution Services, and aim to improve the operational efficiency and productivity of its customers through incorporating digital technologies such as internet of things, cloud computing, big data, discriminative artificial intelligence and blockchain to enable the integration of various hardware and software systems under a unified platform. The Group's main business models for Digitalisation Solution Services are:

- 1. Integrated Solution Services generally provide turnkey solutions through (i) system design planning; (ii) supply of hardware and software and installation and integration services; and (iii) provision of after-sale services such as technical support services, which primarily involve the provision of a comprehensive digitalisation solution that includes all the necessary hardware and software components in a single package.
- 2. System Maintenance Services mainly include commissioned technical support and maintenance services for the hardware and software systems delivered under its Integrated Solution Services projects. System Maintenance Services generally include (i) day-to-day system and network maintenance and data back-up support services; (ii) 24/7 technical support and consulting services; (iii) system migration solution services; and (iv) emergency trouble shooting services.

3. Software Solution Services focus on (i) sale of self-developed software; and (ii) delivering customised software development services.

#### **FINANCIAL OVERVIEW**

#### Revenue

The Group derives revenue from Telecommunications Infrastructure Services and Digitalisation Solution Services.

The following table sets out a breakdown of revenue by business scope for the years indicated:

⊢or	the	year	end	ed 31	Dec	ember

	2024		2023	
	RMB'000	%	RMB'000	%
Revenue from Telecommunications				
Infrastructure Services	510,700	92.7	501,357	82.2
- Infrastructure Construction Services	474,822	86.2	463,367	76.0
- Infrastructure Maintenance Services	35,878	6.5	37,990	6.2
Revenue from Digitalisation				
Solution Services	40,362	7.3	107,944	17.8
- Integrated Solution Services	812	0.2	41,258	6.8
- System Maintenance Services	7,870	1.4	470	0.1
- Software Solution Services	31,680	5.7	66,216	10.9
Revenue	551,062	100.0	609,301	100.0

The Group's revenue decreased by RMB58.2 million from RMB609.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB551.1 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from Digitalisation Solution Services by RMB67.5 million.

The Group's revenue from Telecommunications Infrastructure Services slightly increased by RMB9.3 million from RMB501.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB510.7 million for the Reporting Period.

The Group's revenue from Digitalisation Solution Services decreased by RMB67.5 million from RMB107.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB40.4 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in the numbers of projects in relation to Integrated Solution Services and Software Solution Services.

#### **Cost of services**

The Group's cost of services decreased by RMB15.2 million from RMB460.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB444.8 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease in cost of services was mainly due to lower hardware and software procurement costs incurred for Integrated Solution Services and Software Solution Services as a result of the decrease in the number of such projects.

#### Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets out a breakdown of the gross profit and gross profit margin during the years indicated by business segments:

	For the year ended 31 December			
	2024		2023	
		Gross		
	Gross	profit/(loss)		Gross profit
	profit/(loss)	margin	Gross profit	margin
	RMB'000	%	RMB'000	%
From Telecommunications				
Infrastructure Services	73,022	14.3	74,165	14.8
- Infrastructure Construction Services	64,105	13.5	65,018	14.0
- Infrastructure Maintenance Services	8,917	24.9	9,147	24.1
From Digitalisation Solution Services	33,205	82.3	75,154	69.6
- Integrated Solution Services	(142)	(17.5)	13,059	31.7
- System Maintenance Services	1,735	22.0	178	37.9
- Software Solution Services	31,613	99.8	61,917	93.5
Total gross profit and overall				
gross profit margin	106,227	19.3	149,319	24.5

The Group's gross profit decreased by RMB43.1 million from RMB149.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB106.2 million for the Reporting Period, which was in line with the decrease in the revenue.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's gross profit margin decreased by 5.2 percentage points compared to 2023, mainly due to the decrease in revenue and gross profit from Digitalisation Solution Services which typically contributed a relatively higher gross profit margin, decreased from RMB75.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB33.2 million for the Reporting Period.

#### Other net income

The Group's other net income increased by RMB2.2 million from RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB7.2 million for the Reporting Period. The increase in other net income was mainly due to the increase in the government grants received of RMB1.2 million, net foreign exchange gain of RMB2.0 million and decrease of RMB1.0 million in finance expenses – financing component interest income as compared to the previous year.

#### Selling expenses

The Group's selling expenses remained stable from RMB3.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB3.5 million for the Reporting Period.

#### **Administrative expenses**

The Group's administrative expenses increased by RMB6.9 million from RMB38.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB45.4 million for the Reporting Period. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to an increase in the provision for expected credit losses of RMB7.5 million.

#### Research and development expenses

The Group's research and development expenses remained stable from RMB25.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB25.7 million for the Reporting Period.

#### **Finance costs**

The Group's finance costs decreased by RMB1.4 million from RMB16.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB15.3 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to a decrease in interest on bank borrowings as a result of lower average balances on bank borrowings and lower interest rates on bank borrowings for the Reporting Period.

#### **Profit before taxation**

The Group's profit before taxation decreased by RMB46.5 million from RMB70.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB23.5 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease in profit before taxation was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from Digitalisation Solution Services.

#### Income tax expense

The Group's income tax expense increased by RMB12.5 million from RMB1.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB13.8 million for the Reporting Period. The increase in income tax expense was mainly due to the Jiangxi Gelapu Software Company Limited<sup>#</sup> (江西歌拉普軟件有限公司), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 11 February 2022 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, being unable to enjoy the tax exemption policy for software enterprises as a result of policy-related reasons.

#### Profit for the year

The Group's profit for the year decreased by RMB59.0 million from RMB68.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB9.7 million for the Reporting Period. Such decrease in the Group's profit for the Reporting Period was primarily due to the decrease in revenue from Digitalisation Solution Services and increase in income tax expense.

#### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

#### **Cash flow**

The Group's net cash used in operating activities for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB103.1 million, which was primarily attributable to its profit before tax of approximately RMB23.5 million as adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items of approximately RMB36.5 million, net cash outflows from changes in working capital of approximately RMB157.5 million and income tax paid of approximately RMB5.6 million. Adjustments for cash and non-operating items primarily included interest expenses of approximately RMB15.3 million, depreciation charges of approximately RMB2.5 million and impairment losses recognised of approximately RMB19.2 million. Net cash outflows from changes in working capital primarily resulted from increase in contract assets of approximately RMB237.4 million, which was due to delays in the final review by the Group's customers, and increase in trade and other payables of approximately RMB32.7 million, with relatively small offset amount. During the Reporting Period, lower amount of trade receivables was received, but higher amount of trade payables was paid by the Company.

The Group's net cash used in investing activities for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB144.9 million, which was primarily attributable to the cash outflow of approximately RMB139.8 million due to settlement of amounts due to shareholders and cash outflow of approximately RMB5.6 million due to payments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment.

The Group's net cash generated from financing activities for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB301.3 million, which was primarily attributable to the combined effect of (i) bank borrowings of approximately RMB373.0 million; (ii) capital inflow from capital injection from shareholders of approximately RMB127.7 million; and (iii) proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in the initial public offering ("**IPO**") of approximately RMB182.7 million, partially offset by (i) repayment of bank borrowings of approximately RMB347.0 million; and (ii) cash outflow of interest payment of approximately RMB15.3 million.

#### Net current assets

As at 31 December 2024, the net current assets of the Group amounted to RMB333.2 million, while the net current assets as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB36.3 million, mainly due to the increase in contract assets of RMB234.9 million and cash and cash equivalents of RMB53.5 million.

#### Cash and bank balances and borrowings

The majority of the Group's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in RMB. The Group's cash and bank balances amounted to RMB135.0 million as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase of RMB53.5 million from RMB81.5 million as at 31 December 2023, which was primarily attributable to the combined effect of (i) the capital inflow by the capital injection from shareholders of approximately RMB127.7 million; and (ii) proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in the IPO of approximately RMB182.7 million, which was partially offset by the combined effect of: (i) the cash outflow of approximately RMB139.8 million resulting from the settlement of the amount payable to the shareholders; and (ii) net cash used in operating activities of approximately RMB103.1 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank loans comprised of: (i) RMB179.0 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 4.25% and repayable within one year; (ii) RMB125.0 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 3.85% and repayable within one year; (iii) RMB35.0 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 3.75% and repayable within one year; (iv) RMB10.0 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 3.90% and repayable within one year; and (v) RMB50.0 million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 3.90% and repayable within one year.

As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not comply with the loan covenants which requires the gearing ratio of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd\* (中贛通信(集團)有限公司), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on 23 May 2002 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to be not more than 65% for a period of three consecutive months or more. On 25 June 2024 and 25 March 2025, the Group obtained waivers from the relevant bank which confirmed that, despite of such breach, the existing bank borrowings granted will remain valid for the remaining term.

#### **Gearing ratio**

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (total borrowings divided by total equity) of the Group was 0.9 times (31 December 2023: 2.7 times). The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly due to (i) capital injection from shareholders; (ii) IPO ordinary share issuance; and (iii) increase in the Group's equity due to the consolidation effect of profit accumulation.

#### **Capital structure**

The share capital of the Company consists of ordinary shares only. As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company is HK\$64,000,000 comprising 640,000,000 shares of HK\$0.1 each.

#### **Treasury policies**

The Group pursues a prudent treasury management policy and actively manages its liquidity position to cope with daily operations and any demands for capital for future development. Also, the Group actively reviews and manages its capital structure on a regular basis to maintain the advantages and security of a strong capital position and adjust the capital structure in response to the changes in economic conditions.

#### Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in PRC with most of our monetary assets and liabilities and transactions principally denominated in RMB. We do not have significant exposure to foreign currency risks.

#### **Capital commitments**

The Group had no capital commitments for the Reporting Period.

#### **Contingent liabilities**

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

#### Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the Group's property, plant and equipment, investment properties, trade receivables and contract assets, and bank deposits pledged for bank borrowings and bank facilities was approximately RMB991.6 million (31 December 2023: RMB666.7 million).

## Significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Group did not make any significant investments, material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

#### **Future plans for material investments**

The Group intends to utilise part of the net proceeds raised from the Listing to acquire or invest in other potential companies specialising in the provision of digitalisation solution services as part of our strategies to expand our business scale and market share. As at the date of this report, the Group did not have any other future plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets.

#### **Employee and remuneration policy**

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 218 employees (31 December 2023: 257 employees). Total staff costs (including directors' remuneration) for the Reporting Period amounted to RMB26.7 million (2023: RMB28.3 million). The Group recruits personnel from the open market, mainly based on a range of factors, including but not limited to their working experience, technical knowledge and educational background. To facilitate the recruitment of employees, the Group strives to offer competitive salaries and benefits to its employees and has policies in place to ensure that the salaries and bonuses of its employees are reviewed periodically and are competitive and in line with their performances. In respect of employee training, the Group provides its new and existing employees with relevant job training from time to time which covers health and safety and operational procedures. Where there are new industry regulations or the Group adopts or amends its policies and operating guidelines which its employees are required to adhere to, it may also provide supplemental training to its employees.

#### **Share Option Scheme**

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for the development of the Group, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme on 17 June 2024. Share options may be granted to eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. Since the date of adopting the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of this report, no share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

### **Biographies of Directors and Senior Management**

#### **EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS**

Mr. Liu Haoqiong (劉皓瓊) ("Mr. Liu Haoqiong"), aged 55, is the chairman of the Board ("Chairman") and an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Liu Haoqiong is responsible for the overall management and business strategies of the Group, and serves as the general manager of the Group's principal operating subsidiary, Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd\* (中贛通信 (集團) 有限公司) ("Zhonggan Communication"). Mr. Liu Haoqiong is the father of Mr. Liu Dingli and Mr. Liu Dingyi, the executive Directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Haoqiong has over 20 years of experience in the telecommunications infrastructure industry. From August 2001 to November 2016, Mr. Liu Haoqiong was the legal representative of Nanchang Changjiang Electric Power Engineering Installation Co., Ltd.\* (南昌市長江電力工程安裝有限公司), a company principally engaged in sale and installation of electronic equipment. Since May 2002, upon establishment of Zhonggan Communication, Mr. Liu Haoqiong has served as the general manager of Zhonggan Communication. From May 2002 to March 2025, Mr. Liu Haoqiong was the chairman and a director of Zhonggan Communication.

In November 2012, Mr. Liu Haoqiong obtained the qualification of engineer in telecommunications infrastructure from the Office of Competency of Fuzhou\* (撫州市職稱工作辦公室), Jiangxi Province, the PRC. Further, in June 2015, Mr. Liu Haoqiong obtained the qualification in lightning protection work from the China Meteorological Administration (中國氣象局).

Mr. Liu Haoqiong graduated from the Nanchang University in July 1992, where he majored in communication and information systems. In January 2020, Mr. Liu Haoqiong graduated from China University of Petroleum-Beijing, where he majored in computer science and technology through online courses. In December 2021, Mr. Liu Haoqiong completed the Advanced Business Management Program at MBA School of Education of Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics.

Mr. Peng Shengqian (彭聲謙) ("Mr. Peng"), aged 61, is an executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He has been the person-in-charge of the Shanghai branch office of Zhonggan Communication since January 2020. Mr. Peng is mainly responsible for management of the marketing development and overseeing research and development of the Group.

From 2001 to 2005, Mr. Peng served as the deputy general manager of Zhejiang Tiantong Electronics Co., Ltd\*(浙江 天通電子股份有限公司) (currently known as TDG Holding Co., Ltd (天通控股股份有限公司)), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600330). From September 2007 to April 2011, he served as the deputy general manager of Jiangsu Zhongtian Technology Co., Ltd.\* (江蘇中天科技股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600522), as well as the deputy general manager of technology division and general manager of broadcast and network division. From April 2011 to February 2012, he served as the sales director of Tongding Interconnection Information Co., Ltd.\* ("Tongding Interconnection") (通鼎互聯信息股份公司,a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002491)). From March 2012 to December 2014, he served as deputy general manager of Tongding Group Co., Ltd.\* (通鼎集團有限公司). From May 2015 to June 2019, he served as the deputy general manager of Tongding Interconnection. From February 2020 to March 2025, he has served as a director of Zhonggan Communication.

Mr. Peng obtained the qualification of senior engineer in electronic engineering awarded by the Department of Human Resources of Zhejiang Province, the PRC, in June 2002. He was qualified as a registered career manager by the China Enterprise Evaluation Association (中國企業評價協會) in January 2007.

Mr. Peng graduated from China University of Geosciences (中國地質大學) in Beijing, the PRC with a bachelor's degree in petrology and a master degree in science, both in June 1997.

Ms. Xie Xiaolan (謝小蘭) ("Ms. Xie"), aged 64, is an executive Director of the Company, the director and general manager of Gantong Communication (Jiangxi) Company Limited (贛通通信 (江西) 有限公司), a subsidiary of the Company, and has served various positions within the Group.

Ms. Xie has over 18 years of experience in the telecommunications infrastructure industry. From October 2003 to August 2016, she served as the deputy general manager of Zhonggan Communication. Since January 2014, she also served as director of the production department of Zhonggan Communication and is responsible for business development of the infrastructure market and management of production. Further, since August 2016, she served as the assistant to the general manager of Zhonggan Communication. From August 2016 to March 2025, Ms. Xie was a director of Zhonggan Communication.

Ms. Xie received the certification in enterprise cadre recruitment from the Ministry of Human Resources of Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, the PRC in November 1993.

Mr. Liu Dingli (劉鼎立) ("Mr. Liu Dingli"), aged 34, is an executive Director and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Liu Dingli is a son of Mr. Liu Haoqiong and the elder brother of Mr. Liu Dingyi, both of whom are executive Directors of the Company.

From June 2017 to November 2017, Mr. Liu Dingli served as the director of the internet technology operation department of Zhonggan Communication. From November 2017 to September 2020, he served as the general manager of Jiangxi Gelapu Technology Company Limited ("GLP Technology"), a subsidiary of the Company. From September 2020 to February 2025, he served as the executive director, general manager and legal representative of GLP Technology. From February 2020 to March 2025, he served as a director of Zhonggan Communication, and from February 2022 to February 2025, he served as the executive director, general manager and legal representative of Jiangxi Gelapu Software Company Limited ("GLP Software"), a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Liu Dingli received a bachelor of arts degree in hospitality and tourism management in December 2011 and a master of science in international hospitality management and leadership in March 2013, both from Queen Margaret University in Edinburgh, Scotland.

Mr. Liu Dingyi (劉鼎議) ("Mr. Liu Dingyi"), aged 29, is an executive Director and a joint company secretary of the Company and is responsible for overseeing legal and compliance activities of the Group. Since May 2020, Mr. Liu Dingyi has been the assistant to the general manager of the securities and legal department of Zhonggan Communication. From March 2022 to March 2025, he served as a director of Zhonggan Communication. Mr. Liu Dingyi is the son of Mr. Liu Haoqiong and the younger brother of Mr. Liu Dingli, both of whom are executive Directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Dingyi graduated from Monash University, Australia, in May 2020 with a Bachelor of Business, with a major in banking and finance.

Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang (周志強) ("Mr. Zhou"), aged 42, is an executive Director of the Company and the Group's chief financial officer. Since February 2025, Mr. Zhou has been serving as the director and general manager of GLP Technology and GLP Software. Mr. Zhou has over 17 years of experience in financial management. From July 2005 to July 2008, Mr. Zhou served as the accountant of Jiangxi Chenming Paper Co., Ltd. (江西晨鳴紙業有限責任公司), a subsidiary of Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Co., Ltd.\* (山東晨鳴紙業集團股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01812) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000488). From August 2008 to July 2017, he served as the finance manager of Jiangxi Weidahui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.\* (江西省威達匯房地產開發有限公司). Since August 2017, he has been the chief financial officer of Zhonggan Communication. Mr. Zhou obtained bachelor's degree in accountancy from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in June 2005.

#### INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Shiyong (余世勇) ("Mr. Yu"), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 17 June 2024. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and the members of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He has been an independent director of Zhonggan Communication from October 2020 to March 2025.

Mr. Yu has more than 12 years of experience in accounting and financial management. From September 1999 to October 2002, he served as the finance director of Fujian Mindong Electric Power Co., Ltd.\* (福建閩東電力股份 有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000993). During his tenure, he was mainly responsible for accounting, financial information disclosure and comprehensive financial management of the listed company. In particular, Mr. Yu was responsible for the company's restructuring, initial public offering and A-share issuance. From January 2003 to September 2006, he served as the chief financial director of Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Co., Ltd.\* (山東晨鳴紙業集團股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01812) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000488), where he was mainly responsible for internal control and fiscal and taxation management of the listed company. In light of his corporate management and financial management expertise, Mr. Yu served as the financial person in charge in relation to compliance for the company's quarterly, semi-annual and annual financial information disclosure. From May 2010 to June 2013, he was the vice president of Xtep (China) Co., Ltd.\* (特步 (中國) 有限公司), a subsidiary of XTep International Holdings Limited (特步國際控股有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01368), where he was primarily responsible for the financial and capital management of the listed company and its PRC subsidiaries. Since April 2020, he has been serving as the executive director and general manager of Xiamen Litu Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.\* (廈門利兔企業管理諮詢有限公司), where he is responsible for the business operation and financial management of the company. Given his professional experience, Mr. Yu has been crucial in establishing the company's financial management and tax planning system. As part of his role at the company, Mr. Yu has been working with central state-owned listed companies and both large and medium-sized private enterprises as their business training instructor, where he provided training courses regarding investment and financing, internal control, risk management, and financial and taxation management. His training courses aimed to enhance the corporate, fiscal and taxation management of the client companies. From November 2016 to the present, Mr. Yu has also served as a guest lecturer at the School of Accountancy of the Central University of Finance and Economics\* (中 央財經大學).

In December 1997, Mr. Yu qualified as a senior accountant by Personnel and Labour Department of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region\* (寧夏回族自治區人事勞動廳). In October 2020, Mr. Yu received the Certificate for Strategic Financial Management issued by the Enterprise Financial Management Association of China. In 2006, Mr. Yu obtained the Sino-British Vocational Qualifications Cooperation Project Certificate issued by the Occupation Skill Testing Authority (職業技能鑒定中心) and the China Employment Training Technical Instruction Centre (中國就業培訓技術指導中心), which certified that Mr. Yu has skill of Cambridge International Diploma in Management — Financial Management (Module Certificate) in Higher Professional Level. He was also awarded the certificate of qualification of independent director issued by the Shanghai Stock Exchange in April 2017. In June 2013, Mr. Yu obtained certificate of Qualification for CFO Enterprise Management Post issued by China Enterprise Confederation in September 2006. In August 2006, Mr. Yu obtained qualification as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for managerial position of China Enterprise Confederation from the CTA Testing Authority.

Mr. Yu obtained a master's degree in business administration from Stratford University in June 2005. Mr. Yu obtained a PhD in business administration from the Business School at Beijing Normal University (北京師範大學經濟與工商管理學院) in October 2013.

Mr. Li Yinguo (李銀國) ("Mr. Li"), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 17 June 2024. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. He has been an independent director of Zhonggan Communication from October 2020 to March 2025.

Mr. Li has more than 10 years of experience in higher education. From January 2004 to April 2016, he worked in Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications (重慶郵電大學), serving as vice president and president. From April 2018 to August 2021, Mr. Li was an independent director of Chongqing Chuanyi Automation Co.,Ltd.\* (重慶川儀自動化股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603100).

Mr. Li obtained a master's degree in science from Chongqing University in December 1989. Mr. Li graduated from Chongqing University with a doctorate degree in automatic control theory and application in July 1996.

**Mr. Zhu Yugang (朱玉鋼)** ("**Mr. Zhu**"), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 17 June 2024. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. He has been an independent director of Zhonggan Communication from October 2020 to March 2025.

From May 2009 to June 2014, Mr. Zhu served as the chief lawyer of Jiangxi Hua Gan Law Firm\* (江西華贛律師事務所). Since June 2014, he served as the senior partner of Jiangxi Hua Gan Law Firm\* (江西華贛律師事務所).

Mr. Zhu is currently a practicing lawyer in the PRC and a member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference National Committee of Xihu District, of Nanchang Municipal.

Mr. Zhu received a bachelor of laws degree from China Central Radio and TV University (中央廣播電視大學) (currently known as The Open University of China (國家開放大學)) in Beijing, the PRC in November 2004.

## CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR(S) UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

The changes in the information of the directors of the Company since the publication of the 2024 interim report of the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules up to the date of this report is set out below:

- Mr. Liu Haoqiong has resigned as the chairman and a director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Mr. Peng Shengqian has resigned as a director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Ms. Xie Xiaolan has resigned as a director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Mr. Liu Dingli has resigned as the director and general manager of GLP Technology and GLP Software with effect from 20 February 2025 and a director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Mr. Liu Dingyi has resigned as a director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang has been appointed as the director and general manager of GLP Technology and GLP Software with effect from 20 February 2025;
- Mr. Yu Shiyong has resigned as an independent director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025;
- Mr. Li Yinguo has resigned as an independent director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025; and
- Mr. Zhu Yugang has resigned as an independent director of Zhonggan Communication with effect from 21 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information of the Directors that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

#### SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Haoqiong (劉皓瓊), aged 55, is the Chairman and an executive Director of the Company. Please see "Executive Directors" in this section for his biographical details.

Mr. Tseung Yat Ming (蔣一銘) ("Mr. Tseung"), aged 39, is the Group's vice president. From August 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Tseung worked as an analyst in Shanghai Mingyu Xiaoyang Investment Management Co., Ltd.\* (上海明渝 齊陽投資管理有限公司). From August 2011 to May 2021, he worked in Shanghai Panhou Capital Management Co., Ltd.\* (上海磐厚投資管理有限公司) as the investment director. In June of 2021, he served as the secretary of the Board and director of investor relations in Suzhou Basecare Medical Corporation Limited (蘇州貝康醫療股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 02170). Mr. Tseung joined Zhonggan Communication in August 2021 as the vice president and is responsible for overseeing corporate finance and capital market activities of the Group.

Mr. Tseung graduated from East China Normal University (華東師範大學) in July 2007 with a bachelor's degree in computer science and technology. He later obtained master's degree in economics from East China Normal University in June 2010.

#### **COMPANY SECRETARY**

Mr. Liu Dingyi (劉鼎議), aged 29, is an executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company by the Board on 28 June 2023. Please see "Executive Directors" in this section for his biographical details.

Ms. Wong Wai Yee, Ella (黃慧兒) ("Ms. Wong") was appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company on 28 June 2023. Ms. Wong is a director of the Corporate Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider specialising in integrated business, corporate and investor services.

Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the corporate secretarial and compliance services field and has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong-listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Wong is currently acting as the company secretary or joint company secretary of a few listed companies on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and a Fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Wong is a holder of the Practitioner's Endorsement from HKCGI. Ms. Wong obtained her bachelor's degree in Economics from The University of Hong Kong and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate Administration from the City University of Hong Kong.

### **Directors' Report**

The Board is pleased to announce the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

#### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 20 April 2022. The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2024. The Company issued 160,000,000 Shares of HK\$0.1 each at an offer price of HK\$1.25 per ordinary Share, among 80,000,000 Shares under the Hong Kong public offering and 80,000,000 Shares under international offering, raising net proceeds of HK\$141.9 million (after deduction of Listing expenses). Details of the net proceeds raising from the initial public offering ("**IPO**"), please refer to the section headed "Directors' Report – Use of Proceeds from Global Offering" in this annual report.

#### PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of Telecommunications Infrastructure Services and Digitalisation Solution Services in the PRC. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting Period is set out in the note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **RESULTS**

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 82.

#### FINAL DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

The Company is incorporated in Cayman Islands, any declaration and payment of dividends by it, as well as the amount of dividends, will be subject to the Company's articles of association (the "Articles of Association") and the Cayman Islands Companies Act. No dividend however, shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. The declaration, payment and amount of dividends will depend on the Group's financial condition, earnings, capital requirements and surplus, contractual and legal restrictions, its ability to receive dividend payments from its subsidiaries, and other factors that the Directors deem relevant. As at the date of this report, the Group did not have any specific dividend policy nor any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.

Chinese laws require that dividends be paid only out of net profit calculated according to PRC accounting principles, which may differ from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions, including HKFRSs. The Company's subsidiaries in the PRC that are required to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves in accordance with the requirements of relevant Chinese laws and the provisions of their respective articles of association. The portions of these subsidiaries' net profits are not available for distribution as cash dividends. Distributions from the Company's PRC subsidiaries may also be restricted if they incur debt or losses, or in accordance with any restrictive covenants in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Group may enter into in the future. Since the Company is an investment holding company and relies on its subsidiaries' dividends as the source of funds to pay dividends, these restrictions may limit or completely prevent it from paying dividends.

As of the date of this report, there is no arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends (including future dividends).

#### **BUSINESS OVERVIEW**

Details of business review and future development of the Company's business are set out in the sections "Management Discussion and Analysis" and "Chairman's Statement" in this report.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE**

The environmental, social and governance report (the "ESG Report") for the Reporting Period has been prepared in compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Guide", renamed as the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code with effect from 1 January 2025) in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules") and comply with mandatory disclosure regulations and the "interpret if not complied with" clause. The ESG Report adheres to the four reporting principles prescribed by the ESG Guide, namely materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. The ESG Report is set out on pages 56 to 74 of this annual report.

#### **COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS**

The Company strictly abides by the following laws and regulations that have material impacts on its operations: (a) regulations relating to the communication technology services industry; (b) laws and regulations affecting the business of the Group: laws and regulations regarding foreign investment, foreign exchange and overseas investment, intellectual property, environmental protection, taxation, labor and social security, and overseas listing.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

#### FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the annual financial results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years are set out on page 4 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

#### **MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS**

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate transaction value of the Group's five largest customers accounted for 97.1% of the Group's total revenue (2023: 97.2%), while the transaction value of the Group's largest customer accounted for 60.4% of the Group's total revenue (2023: 48.8%). In determining the five largest customers during the Reporting Period, the Group consolidates the revenue contributions of customers under the same control, including their subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate transaction value with the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 72.0% of the Group's total purchase costs (2023: 61.8%), while the transaction value with the Group's largest supplier accounted for 21.3% of the Group's total purchase costs (2023: 19.2%).

None of the Directors, any of their close associates, or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING**

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2024, and the Global Offering of the Shares was offered, comprising 80,000,000 Shares under the Hong Kong public offering and 80,000,000 Shares under international offering, both at an offer price of HK\$1.25 per Share. After deducting the underwriting fees and related expenses, the net proceeds from the Global Offering (including the number of Shares issued and allotted pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option) amounted to HK\$141.9 million.

The following table sets out the status of utilisation of the net proceeds from the IPO as at 31 December 2024, and the expected timeline of the use of the unutilised net proceeds:

		Planned	Utilised	Unutilised	Expected
	Percentage	allocation	net proceeds	net proceeds	timeline of
	of gross	of net	up to the date	up to the date	full utilisation
Usage	proceeds	proceeds	of this report	of this report	of the balance
		HK\$ in million	HK\$ in million	HK\$ in million	
		(approximately)	(approximately)	(approximately)	
Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions	63.0%	89.4	-	89.4	By the end of
					31 December
					2025
Payment of upfront costs in respect of prospective	15.5%	22.0	-	22.0	By the end of
Integrated Solution Services projects					31 December
					2025
Strengthen research and development capabilities	17.3%	24.6	4.2	20.4	By the end of
					31 December
					2025
General Working Capital	4.2%	5.9	5.9	-	
Total	100.0%	141.9	10.1	131.8	

Since the Listing Date, the Company has been actively exploring various strategic acquisition opportunities, but has not identified a suitable opportunity for a service provider specialising in the provision of digitalisation solution services. Being mindful of the unforeseen circumstances and the delayed development of smart cities, the Board is inclined to adopt a prudent approach in utilising the net proceeds. The Company expects that additional time is required for the Group for planning and implementation. As such, the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds is updated, with plans to utilise the remaining net proceeds in 2025.

The Board considers that the extension of the expected timeline for full utilisation of the net proceeds will not have any material adverse impact on the existing business and operation of the Group and is in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the plan for utilising the net proceeds.

The Group will continue to explore different acquisition opportunities bringing value to the Group. In the event that there are suitable acquisitions in the future, the Company shall still use the designated net proceeds and its own funds for the acquisitions, and the Company's acquisition strategy will not be affected because of the extended timeline for full utilisation of the net proceeds.

The Board will continuously assess the plans for the use of the unutilised net proceeds and may revise or amend such plans where necessary to cope with the changing market conditions in order to strive for a better performance of the Group. Should there be any further change in the use of the net proceeds, further announcement(s) will be made by the Company as and when appropriate.

#### SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the Reporting Period are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

#### **RESERVES**

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group during the Reporting Period are set out on page 85 in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity in this annual report.

#### **DONATIONS**

During the Reporting Period, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2023: nil).

#### PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment during the Reporting Period are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

#### RESERVES AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2023: nil).

#### **BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS**

During the Reporting Period, save as the bank loans and other borrowings disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings.

#### **DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS**

The Directors of the Company who hold office since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report are:

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Liu Haogiong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Peng Shenggian

Ms. Xie Xiaolan

Mr. Liu Dingli

Mr. Liu Dingyi

Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang

#### **Independent Non-executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Shiyong

Mr. Li Yinguo

Mr. Zhu Yugang

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are set out in the section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report.

In accordance with article 108 of the Company's Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In addition, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Haoqiong, Mr. Peng Shengqian, Ms. Xie Xiaolan, Mr. Liu Dingli, Mr. Liu Dingyi, Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang, Mr. Yu Shiyong, Mr. Li Yinguo and Mr. Zhu Yugang will retire from office, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the "**AGM**") of the Company.

The details of the Directors who are subject to re-election at the AGM of the Company are set out in the circular to be dispatched to shareholders on or before 31 May 2025.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years from the date of re-designation or the date of appointment, automatically renewable for a further one year subject to director's rotation pursuant to the Articles of Association and can be terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing served by either party on the other. None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

During the Reporting Period, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a Director or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the Reporting Period.

## CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of them are independent from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

#### **DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS**

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, management, substantial shareholders, or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) held any interests in any business that competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group.

#### **NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING**

Each of the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Liu Haoqiong, Ms. Tao Xiulan and GT & Yangtze Limited (collectively, the "Controlling Shareholders") entered into the Deed of Non-Competition ("Undertakings") on 17 June 2024, details of which are disclosed in the Prospectus. The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed to the Company that they have compiled with the Undertakings from the Listing Date and up to the date of the Report. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance conditions and confirmation provided by every Controlling Shareholders as part of the annual review process. On the basis that (i) the Company has received the confirmations from them regarding the Undertakings; (ii) there was no competing business reported by them; and (iii) there was no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the Undertakings being questionable, the independent non-executive Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been complied with and enforced by the Company.

#### DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration of the Directors is paid in the form of salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, pension scheme contributions and share-based payments.

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules (effective upon the Listing Date) and with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of the remuneration package, bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior management, to establish a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies to review the terms of the award scheme and the service contracts of the Directors and to provide recommendations on the remuneration package for all Directors and senior management.

The Directors and senior management are eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme (as defined below).

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 7 and note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

#### RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contribution under the scheme. The Group had no forfeited contributions which may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

#### PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has the authority to indemnify each Director against all losses or liabilities suffered or incurred in the performance of his/her functions. The Company has also arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors arising from company activities.

#### SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme through a written shareholders' resolution on 17 June 2024 (the "**Share Option Scheme**"). The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted and shall expire at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless being terminated earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting. Accordingly, as at the date of the report, the remaining life of Share Option Scheme is approximately nine years and three months.

#### **PURPOSE**

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available and high calibre personnel, to provide additional incentives to the eligible participants for their contributions or potential contributions to the Group, and promote the success of the Group's business. The Share Option Scheme will provide the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company, and will contribute toward (i) motivating the eligible participants in optimising their performance and efficiency; and (ii) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationships with the eligible participants whose contributions have been, or, will be beneficial to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group.

#### **ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANTS**

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant options to (i) any director or employee of any member of our Group (including persons who are granted options under the scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with these companies) (the "Employee Participant"); (ii) any director or employee of any of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (the "Related Entity Participant"); and (iii) any person who provides services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests of the long term growth of the Group (the "Service Provider") (collectively the "Eligible Participants") to subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board may determine.

Service Providers include but are not limited to persons (natural persons, corporate entities or otherwise) who work for the Group as independent contractors where the continuity and frequency of their services are akin to those of employees, but excluding placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, or professional service providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or those who are required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

The basis of eligibility of any of the Eligible Participants shall be determined by the Board from time to time at its sole discretion. In assessing the eligibility of any Employee Participant or Related Entity Participant, the Board will consider all relevant factors as appropriate, including, among others, (i) work performance; (ii) years of service; and (iii) potential or actual contribution to the business of the Group.

The basis of eligibility of any Service Provider to the grant of any options shall be determined by the Board from time to time at its sole discretion on the basis of his/its contribution to the development and growth of, the degree of involvement in and/or cooperation with the Group, length of the business relationship of the Group with the Service Provider, and the actual or potential support, advice, efforts and contributions the Service Provider has exerted and given towards the success of the Group.

#### SCHEME MANDATE LIMIT AND THE SERVICE PROVIDER SUBLIMIT

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date, being 64,000,000 Shares (the "Scheme Mandate Limit"). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other Scheme of the Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the above, within the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted to Service Providers shall not exceed 6,400,000 Shares, representing 1% of the total number of Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the "Service Provider Sublimit").

The Service Provider Sublimit was determined with reference to the potential dilution effect arising from grants to Service Providers, the actual or expected improvement of our financial performance is attributable to Service Providers and the time for using the Service Provider in the activities of the Group. Considering the fact that there is no other share schemes involving grant of new options over the Shares, organisational structures and that Service Providers have contributed or is expected to contribute to the long-term growth of the Company's business, the Board is of the view that the Service Provider Sublimit is appropriate and reasonable.

The Board may, with the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting refresh, the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit after three years from the date of the Shareholders' approval for the last refreshment or the Listing Date provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit. Refreshments of Scheme Mandate Limit (and the Service Provider Sublimit) to be made within a three-year period must be approved by the Shareholders in a manner in compliance with Rule 17.03C of the Listing Rules.

#### MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH INDIVIDUAL

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted to each Eligible Participant under this Scheme and any other share scheme(s) of the Company (excluding options and awards that have been lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant share schemes) in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue (the "1% Individual Limit").

Any further grant of options or awards to an Eligible Participant in excess of the 1% Individual Limit shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (or associates if the Eligible Participant is a connected person of the Company) abstaining from voting. The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing the identity of the Eligible Participant, the number and terms of the options or awards to be granted (and those previously granted to such Eligible Participant in the 12-month period) and such other information required under the Listing Rules.

#### GRANT OF OPTIONS TO CONNECTED PERSONS

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee of the options) and shall comply with the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or any of their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted under all share schemes of the Company (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant share schemes) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting. Such grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the resolution to approve such further grant of options. The Company shall send to the Shareholders a circular containing the information required under the Listing Rules for the purpose of seeking the approval of the Shareholders.

#### PRICE OF SHARES

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price must be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

#### RESTRICTIONS ON THE TIMES OF GRANT OF OPTIONS

A grant of options may not be made after inside information has come to the knowledge of the Company until (and including) the trading day after it has announced such inside information pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the SFO. In particular, no options may be granted during the period commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the date of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules) for approving the Company's results for any year, half-year, quarterly or other interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules); and (ii) the deadline on which the Company shall announce its results for any year or half-year under the Listing Rules, or quarterly or other interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results announcement. No option may be granted during any period of delay in publishing a results announcement.

Notwithstanding the above, a Director must not deal in any securities of the Company (and no options may be granted to a Director) on any day on which its financial results are published and: (i) during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results; and (ii) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of the quarterly results (if any) and half-year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication date of the results, unless the circumstances are exceptional which has to be met the requirements of the Listing Rules.

#### ACCEPTANCE OF AN OFFER OF OPTIONS

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by an Eligible Participant and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of the options is duly signed by such Eligible Participant, together with a remittance or payment in favour of the Company of HK\$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such remittance or payment shall in no circumstances be refundable. Any offer to grant an option to subscribe for Shares may be accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to grant an option is not accepted by any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined by the Eligible Participant and the offer shall lapse.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part and, other than where it is exercised to the full extent outstanding, shall be exercised in integral multiples of such number of Shares as shall represent one board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange for the time being, by the grantee by giving notice in writing to the Company stating that the option is thereby exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. Each such notice must be accompanied by a remittance or payment for the full amount of the exercise price for the Shares in respect of which the notice is given. Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and the remittance or payment and, where appropriate, receipt of the certificate by the auditors to the Company or the approved independent financial adviser as the case may be, the Company shall allot and issue the relevant number of Shares to the grantee credited as fully paid and issue to the grantee certificates in respect of the Shares so allotted.

#### RESTRICTIONS ON THE TIMES OF GRANT OF OPTIONS

The vesting period for any option granted to any grantee shall not be less than twelve (12) months from the date of grant of such option. An option may be exercised by a grantee of an Option in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme during the option period which shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the option. No option may be offered or granted more than 10 years after the Listing Date. Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed "Statutory and General Information – D. Share Option Scheme" in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

#### NO OUTSTANDING OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of this report, no options are granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme, and there are no outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit and Service Provider Sublimit of the Share Option Scheme are 64,000,000 Shares and 6,400,000 Shares, respectively, representing 10% and 1% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company.

# INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of Directors or chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO")), which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the "Model Code"), were as follows:

Name of Director	Nature of interest	Number of Shares interested <sup>(1)</sup>	Approximate percentage of interest
			(%)
Mr. Liu Haoqiong	Interest in controlled corporation <sup>(2)</sup>	359,444,530 (L)	56.16
Mr. Liu Dingyi	Interest in controlled corporation(3)	39,439,467 (L)	6.16
Mr. Liu Dingli	Interest in controlled corporation <sup>(4)</sup>	34,099,071 (L)	5.33

#### Notes:

- 1. The letter "L" denotes the person's long position in the Shares of the Company.
- 2. GT & Yangtze Limited is owned as to 70.0% by Mr. Liu Haoqiong and 30.0% by Ms. Tao Xiulan, the spouse of Mr. Liu Haoqiong. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Haoqiong and Ms. Tao Xiulan are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by GT & Yangtze Limited.
- 3. Octuple Hills Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Dingyi. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Dingyi is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Octuple Hills Limited.
- 4. Huat Huat Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Dingli. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Dingli is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Huat Huat Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company has any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code.

## SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2024, the following corporations/persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests of 5% or more in the issued Shares of the Company according to the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of		Number of Shares	Approximate percentage of
corporation/person	Nature of interest	interested <sup>(1)</sup>	interest
			(%)
GT & Yangtze Limited	Beneficial owner	359,444,530 (L)	56.16
Ms. Tao Xiulan	Interest in controlled corporation;	359,444,530 (L)	56.16
	interests held jointly with others;		
	and interests of spouses(2)		

#### Notes:

- 1. The letter "L" denotes the corporation/person's long position in the Shares of the Company.
- 2. GT & Yangtze Limited is owned as to 70.0% by Mr. Liu Haoqiong and 30.0% by Ms. Tao Xiulan, the spouse of Mr. Liu Haoqiong. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Haoqiong and Ms. Tao Xiulan are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by GT & Yangtze Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, no person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had registered an interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

## DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Reporting Period.

#### **MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS**

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

#### **EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT**

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Share Option Scheme" of this report, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

#### TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of tax relief or exemption available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

#### PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities (including any treasury shares held or deposited with the Central Clearing and Settlement System) from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

#### **PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS**

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

#### SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

#### MATERIAL LITIGATION

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Company was neither involved in any material litigation or arbitration, nor may be brought up or accused of any pending material litigation or claims.

## **Directors' Report (Continued)**

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 38 to 55 in this annual report.

## **ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING**

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the "**AGM**") is expected to be held on Friday, 27 June 2025. Shareholders should refer to details regarding the AGM in the circular of the Company to be issued in due course and the notice of the AGM and form of proxy accompanying thereto.

### **CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS**

To determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to attend the AGM to be held on Friday, 27 June 2025, the Company's register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all duly completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 June 2025.

## RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions and continuing connected transactions which required reporting, annual review, annuancements and/or independent shareholders' approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

Details of the related party transactions entered into by our Group are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statement and they were connected transactions exempt from the connected transaction requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

### **AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial statements and interim financial results announcement and report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, and is of the view that the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations, and appropriate disclosures have already been made.

# **Directors' Report (Continued)**

## **AUDITORS**

During the Reporting Period, KPMG acted as the reporting accountant and independent auditor of the Company. The financial statements set out in the annual report were audited by KPMG. The Company has not changed its auditor since the Listing Date.

## **EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD**

As at the date of this report, the Group has no significant events after the Reporting Period required to be disclosed.

By order of the Board

Zhonggan Communication (Group) Holdings Limited
Mr. Liu Haoqiong

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

## **Corporate Governance Report**

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's annual report during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and achieving good corporate governance by an effective Board, segregation of duties with clear accountability, sound internal controls and risk management procedures and transparency to shareholders in order to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2024. As such, the CG Code was not applicable to the Company prior to the Listing Date but became applicable thereafter.

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance in order to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. After its Listing, the Company has adopted the CG Code as its own CG Code.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company has adopted the principles and complied with the code provisions (the "Code Provisions") set out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this report. The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

### **CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE**

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attaining its vision and strategy. The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in accordance with good corporate governance practices, which seek to ensure that overall business risk of the Group is assessed and managed appropriately and sustainable returns can be delivered to its shareholders.

The Board is committed towards lawful, ethical and responsible operation of our business. In order to promote honesty-based and win-win cooperation in the operating environment, the Company has designed and adopted strict internal procedures to ensure the compliance of its business operations with the relevant rules and regulations. The CG Code published by the Stock Exchange sets out the principles of good corporate governance, and the Group manages its corporate affairs (such as its board composition, audit, internal control and risk management) in accordance with such principles. The Company implemented strict internal procedures with respect to anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-fraud which enable the Company to improve long-term sustainable performance. This corporate governance report provides a channel through which shareholders may evaluate how the Group has applied such principles to its business.

# COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code regarding directors' securities transactions during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

The Company has also, in accordance with the requirements set out in Code Provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, established written guidelines no less exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside and price-sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

# RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is responsible for leadership and control of the Company, overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs and acting in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Board makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company, and may upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expenses for discharging their duties. All Directors, including the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group's business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business development, finance, marketing and operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the "Independent Auditor's Report" in this annual report.

To oversee particular aspects of the Company's affairs, the Board has established three Board committees, including the Audit Committee (the "Audit Committee"), the Remuneration Committee (the "Remuneration Committee") and the nomination committee (the "Nomination Committee", together with the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, the "Committees"). The Board has delegated to the Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

### **BOARD COMPOSITION**

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors, consisting of six executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Liu Haoqiong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Peng Shengqian

Ms. Xie Xiaolan

Mr. Liu Dingli

Mr. Liu Dingyi

Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang

#### **Independent Non-executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Shiyong

Mr. Li Yinguo

Mr. Zhu Yugang

The Board considers that the composition of the Board provides a strong independent element with a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management" of this annual report, none of the Directors and senior management is connected with any other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company, and there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between the Directors.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the Code Provisions under the CG Code requiring directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

#### CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Liu Haoqiong is currently both the chief executive officer of the Company ("Chief Executive Officer") and the Chairman of the Board. Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chief Executive Officer and Chairman in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership and efficient discharge of executive functions within the Group. The Group considers that the balance of power and authority of the present arrangement will not be impaired as the Board comprises nine other experienced and high-calibre individuals who would be able to offer advice from various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions of the Group, the Board will make consultations with appropriate Board committees and senior management. Despite the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for Mr. Liu Haoqiong, the Chairman, to concurrently serve as the Chief Executive Officer, the Board believes that Mr. Liu Haoqiong, being the chairman of the Board, is familiar with the Company's business operation and has excellent knowledge and experience of the Company's business which will be conducive to improving the efficiency of the Company's overall strategic planning. The Board believes that such management structure layout will be more beneficial to the future development of the Company and will improve the Company's operating conditions. Under the supervision of the Board, it is appropriately structured with balance of power to provide sufficient checks to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders. Therefore, the Directors consider that the present arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

### INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date to the date of this report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. All independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence pursuant to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are independent as they were free from any business or other relationship which could affect their ability to discharge their duties independently.

### **BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION**

The Board seeks the development of an effective working environment for the executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to improve the quality of the decisions made by the Board without constraining the independent views of the independent non-executive Directors. The Group has established a mechanism during the year to ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board by including allowing the independent non-executive Directors to directly contact the Chairman of the Board for expressing their independent views in an open and candid manner and exercising judgment to better safeguard shareholders' interests as well as in confidential manner (in case of any conflict of interest).

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on an annual basis to ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board.

#### **BOARD MEETINGS**

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year (does not include obtaining Board consent through circulating written resolutions) at approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board meetings will be held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

At least 14 days' notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting agendas and other relevant information are provided to the Directors at least 3 days before the date of the Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings and have access to the advice and services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

If a Director considers independent views and input are necessary in the process of discharging his/her duty and in handling meeting agendas (including Board committee meetings), he/she may inform the company secretary to appoint external experts or consultants to provide the necessary information. Depending the complexity of the issue involved and the required fee level, the appointment of external experts or consultants can be tabled in the meeting agenda for the approval by the Directors attending the meeting. The Board and the Committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties. The Board has reviewed this mechanism and considered it appropriate and effective.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and records. Minutes of Board and committee meetings are kept by the company secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any Directors.

The chairman of the Board holds meetings with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) annually, during which executive Directors are not permitted to attend. From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Chairman held one separate meeting with the independent non-executive Directors.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 3 July 2024. From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Company held two Board meetings. The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings is set out below:

	Number of	
Name	Attendances	Attendance Rate
Executive Directors		
Mr. Liu Haoqiong	2	100%
Mr. Peng Shengqian	2	100%
Ms. Xie Xiaolan	2	100%
Mr. Liu Dingli	2	100%
Mr. Liu Dingyi	2	100%
Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang	2	100%
Independent Non-executive Directors		
Mr. Yu Shiyong	2	100%
Mr. Li Yinguo	2	100%
Mr. Zhu Yugang	2	100%

### SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETING

The Shareholders' general meeting is the organ of highest authority of our Company and exercises the duties and powers in accordance with the laws and the Articles of Association. In order to protect the rights of Shareholders, our Company will convene the Shareholders' general meeting in strict compliance with the relevant rules and procedures such that all Shareholders are treated equally and can exercise their rights fully. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the Shareholders' general meeting on each substantial issue. Each resolution submitted to the Shareholders' general meeting will be voted pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the voting result will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after the meeting.

No Shareholders' general meeting was held by the Company from Listing Date to the date of this report as the Company was listed on 3 July 2024.

### APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a service contract or a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years with effect from the Listing Date.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. According to the above provisions, all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the forthcoming annual general meetings.

### CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director received a comprehensive induction package covering business operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

By providing all Directors with relevant guidelines, updated materials and training regarding the relevant laws and applicable regulations, the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, and relevant disclosure requirements, the Group also ensures that each Director understands and is familiar with the latest development of the relevant rules.

On an ongoing basis, Directors are encouraged to keep all matters relevant to the Group and also provided funding to each Director, to encourage Directors to participate in various continuous professional development courses, attend briefings, seminars and relevant training courses as appropriate. The Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective training record pursuant to the requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional development.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the participation record of Directors in continuous professional development training is set out below:

Type of Training (Note)

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Liu Haoqiong	В
Mr. Peng Shengqian	В
Ms. Xie Xiaolan	В
Mr. Liu Dingli	В
Mr. Liu Dingyi	A&B
Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang	В

### **Independent Non-executive Directors**

Mr. Yu Shiyong	В
Mr. Li Yinguo	В
Mr. Zhu Yugang	В

Note: Types of Training

- A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops
- B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications

Each of the Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules prior to the Listing Date; and (ii) understands his or her obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

## **BOARD COMMITTEES**

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to Shareholders upon request.

### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditors, reviewing the financial statements and making recommendations on the financial reports and overseeing the Group's internal control procedures. An entire version of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include but not limited to: (1) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor; (2) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards; (3) developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of external auditor to provide non-audit services; (4) monitoring the integrity of the Company's financial statements, interim reports and annual reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them; (5) monitoring the Company's financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems; (6) reviewing the financial control of the Company; (7) discussing with management on the risk management and internal control systems to ensure that management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing effective systems; (8) investigating significant findings related to risk management and internal control matters; (9) ensuring the coordination between internal and external auditors, guaranteeing that the internal audit function has sufficient resources and appropriate status within the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness; (10) reviewing the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; (11) examining the "Explanatory Statement on Audit" provided by the external auditors to management, any significant queries raised by the auditors to the management regarding accounting records, financial accounts, or control systems, and the responses made by management; (12) ensuring that the Board can promptly addresses issues raised in the "Explanatory Statement on Audit" provided by the external auditors to management; (13) reporting to the Board on matters covered in items (1) to (12); and (14) considering other special issues as defined or assigned by the Board from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Shiyong, Mr. Li Yinguo and Mr. Zhu Yugang. Mr. Yu Shiyong is the chairman of the Audit Committee with appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company's current auditor, being KPMG.

The Audit Committee held one meeting from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, during which it reviewed, among other matters, the interim financial results announcement and report of the Group during the period from the Listing Date to the year ended 31 December 2024. The details of the attendance of each committee member at the meeting are as follows:

	Number of	
Name	Attendances	Attendance Rate
Independent Non-executive Directors		
Mr. Yu Shiyong (Chairman of the Audit Committee)	1	100%
Mr. Li Yinguo	1	100%
Mr. Zhu Yugang	1	100%

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's financial controls, risk management and internal control systems and discussed with the management of the Company to ensure that management has performed its duty to establish effective systems and has provided sufficient resources to the financial reporting function and internal audit function. The Audit Committee has met with the external auditor of the Company without the presence of the executive Directors to ensure the effectiveness of the audit process, and has reviewed this annual report, including the Company's financial statements contained therein.

### REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee will review the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of Directors and senior management and make recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee also include making recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group, reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment as well as the compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct, ensuring none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, and reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The emoluments of executive Directors are determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration of the Company's performance and prevailing market conditions. The remuneration policy of non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is to ensure that the non-executive Directors are adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company's affairs including their participation in respective Board committees. The emoluments of Directors are also determined with reference to their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends.

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yinguo and Mr. Yu Shiyong, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Peng Shengqian. Mr. Li Yinguo is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024. The details of the attendance of each committee member at the meeting are as follows:

	Number of	
Name	Attendances	Attendance Rate
Independent Non-executive Directors		
Mr. Li Yinguo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)	1	100%
Mr. Yu Shiyong	1	100%
Executive Director		
Mr. Peng Shengqian	1	100%

The Remuneration Committee assessed the performance, reviewed the proposal made by management on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior management.

### REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors) whose biographical details are set out in the section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management" in this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2024 by the band is as follows:

	Number of
Remuneration band (in HK\$)	people
0 - 1.000.000	3

### NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size, composition and diversity policy of the Board (the "Board Diversity Policy"), including the measurable objectives, the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, on an annual basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-election of Directors. When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by making reference to a series of criteria as bases, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural, skills, experience, educational background, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates, and taking into consideration of the Company's Board Diversity Policy. All candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Yugang and Mr. Yu Shiyong, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Liu Dingli. Mr. Zhu Yugang is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024. Details of the attendance of each committee member at the meeting are as follows:

	Number of		
Name	Attendances	Attendance Rate	
Independent Non-executive Directors			
Mr. Zhu Yugang (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)	1	100%	
Mr. Yu Shiyong	1	100%	
Executive Director			
Mr. Liu Dingli	1	100%	

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and concluded that the Company's Board Diversity Policy has been properly implemented.

#### **BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY**

To enhance the efficiency of the Board and maintain a high standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy ("Board Diversity Policy") which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity in the Board. Pursuant to the Company's Board Diversity Policy, the selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical capabilities, professional qualifications and skills, knowledge, length of service and other related factors. The Company will also consider its business model and special needs. The ultimate selection of Director candidates will be based on the merits of the candidates and the contribution that the candidates will bring to the Board. The Directors possess a balanced range of knowledge and skills, encompassing overall management and strategy planning, human resources, administration and training, business development, sales, accounting and corporate finance, as well as administrative and legal compliance matters.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

- (a) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be independent non-executive Directors;
- (b) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained accounting or relevant financial management professional qualifications;
- (c) at least 50% of the members of the Board shall have 10 years or more of experience in the industry he/she is specialised in;
- (d) at least 2 of the members of the Board shall have China-related work experience; and
- (e) the Board comprises male and female members.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises nine members. We have three independent non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing one-third of the members of our Board. In terms of gender diversity, the executive Directors include a female, namely Ms. Xie Xiaolan. In terms of age diversity, the ages of each director range from 29 to 70 years old. On such premise, our Board is well balanced and diversified in alignment with the business development and strategy of our Group. Taking into account our existing business model and specific needs as well as the different backgrounds of our directors, the composition of our Board satisfies our Board Diversity Policy. Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its continued effectiveness on an annual basis. The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Company's Board Diversity Policy for the year ended 31 December 2024, and concluded that the Board Diversity Policy, including its measurable objectives, is appropriate and effective in supporting the Group's strategic goals and maintaining its sustainable development.

### GENDER DIVERSITY OF WORKFORCE

Gender diversity at workforce levels (including our senior management) is disclosed in the section headed "Environmental, Social and Governance Report" in this annual report.

### JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Liu Dingyi is an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Liu Dingyi was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company by the Board on 28 June 2023. For his biographical details, please refer to the section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management – Executive Directors" in this annual report.

Ms. Wong Wai Yee, Ella was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company on 28 June 2023. For her biographical details, please refer to the section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior Management – Company Secretary" in this annual report.

All Directors are entitled to seek advice and services from the joint company secretaries on matters regarding corporate governance and Board practices. As at 31 December 2024, both Mr. Liu Dingyi and Ms. Wong Wai Yee, Ella have completed no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training according to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

## **AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION**

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration for the audit services provided by the Auditor to the Group is analyzed below and no non-audit services have been provided by the Auditor. The remuneration for the audit services includes the audit service fees in respect of the Group's financial statements for the Reporting Period.

Type of services	Amount
	(RMB'000)
Audit services	2,180
Total	2,180

### RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for overseeing the Group's risk management and internal control systems on an on-going basis and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Group. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives and ensuring that the Group has established and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Meanwhile, the Group has engaged an external legal adviser to assist the Group in complying with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, strengthening our risk management and internal control capabilities, and preventing non-compliance incidents as much as possible.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has adopted various measures to ensure the effective implementation of its internal control and risk management systems, including (i) establishing the Audit Committee to review and supervise our financial reporting process and internal control system; (ii) organizing training sessions for our Directors and senior management; (iii) conducting regular internal training for our employees and management on applicable laws and regulations to ensure their awareness and compliance which cover various aspects of employee behavior during the ordinary business operations; (iv) appointing Zhongtai International Capital Limited as our compliance adviser to advise on ongoing compliance with the Listing Rules and other applicable securities laws and regulations in Hong Kong;

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk management system of the Group and is of the view that such system is effective and adequate.

### WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the "Whistleblowing Policy"). The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a culture of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance across the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the chairman of the Audit Committee or the officer of the office of the Board. No incident of fraud or misconduct that has material effect on the Group's financial statements or overall operations for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

#### **ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY**

The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the "Anti-corruption Policy"). The Group is committed to achieving the highest standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting its business. The Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group's corporate governance framework. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group's personnel and business partners must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the Group's commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group's practices, the Anti-corruption Policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group's employees and third parties dealing with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

### DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information.

The policy provides guidelines to the directors, officers and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside information. To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

### **DIVIDENDS POLICY**

The Company is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands, any declaration and payment of dividends by it, as well as the amount of dividends, will be subject to the Articles of Association of the Company and the Cayman Islands Companies Act. No dividend however, shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. The declaration, payment and amount of dividends will depend on the Group's financial condition, earnings, capital requirements and surplus, contractual and legal restrictions, its ability to receive dividend payments from its subsidiaries, and other factors that the Directors deem relevant. As of the date of this report, the Group did not have any specific dividend policy nor any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.

Chinese laws require that dividends be paid only out of net profit calculated according to PRC accounting principles, which may differ from generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions, including HKFRSs. The Company's subsidiaries in the PRC that are required to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves in accordance with the requirements of relevant Chinese laws and the provisions of their respective articles of association. The portions of these subsidiaries' net profits are not available for distribution as cash dividends. Distributions from the Company's PRC subsidiaries may also be restricted if they incur debt or losses, or in accordance with any restrictive covenants in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Group may enter into in the future. Since the Company is an investment holding company and relies on its subsidiaries' dividends as the source of funds to pay dividends, these restrictions may limit or completely prevent it from paying dividends.

#### AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association of the Company and Articles of the Association (collectively, the "Memorandum and Articles") have been amended and restated, with effect from the Listing Date. Save for the aforesaid disclosed, during the Reporting Period, no change has been made to the Memorandum and Articles.

The latest version of the Memorandum and Articles of the Company is available on the websites of the Company at www.gantongjt.com and the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

#### SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

### **Convene a General Meeting and Put Forward Proposals**

According to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholder(s) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings, on a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company and the foregoing shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the meeting agenda. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, with detailed contact information of the requisitionist(s), at either one of the following addresses of the Company:

#### **Headquarters in the PRC**

Room 101, Block 99
2799 Tianxiang Avenue
Nanchang Jiahai Industrial Park
Nanchang High-tech Industrial Development Zone
Nanchang City
Jiangxi Province, the PRC

## **Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong**

Room 1915, 19/F Lee Garden One 33 Hysan Avenue Causeway Bay Hong Kong

An annual general meeting of the Company shall be called by not less than 21 days' notice in writing. All other general meetings (including an extraordinary general meeting) shall be called by at least 14 days' notice in writing. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on the website of the Company.

### COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and public investors.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through its corporate publications including interim and annual financial results announcements and reports. Extensive information about the Company's activities for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been provided in this annual report. While the annual general meeting provides a valuable forum for direct communication between the Board and its shareholders, the Company also maintains its website (www.gantongit.com) to provide an alternative communication channel for the public and its shareholders. All corporate communication and the Company's latest updates are available on the Company's website for public information.

Shareholders' enquires to the Board may be made in writing and sent to the Company's headquarters in the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong at the addresses stated above to contact the Company's investor relations team.

To facilitate and encourage more shareholders to attend the Company's general meetings, the Company's AGM will be held on Friday, 27 June 2025 with the combination of a physical meeting and an online virtual meeting. Board members, in particular, either the chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditor will attend the forthcoming AGM to answer Shareholders' questions. Each shareholder has the right to speak at a general meeting and the Board members could communicate with shareholders directly. The Company has set up a dedicated investor relations team to communicate with shareholders and to handle shareholders' enquires on an ongoing basis. The team members are familiar with the information disclosure requirements and guidance of Listing Rules and relevant provisions, who summarise and reflect shareholders' opinion and feedback to the Board and management team. Such information is considered by the Board and management team when reviewing the existing policies and formulating future strategies. The Board considers that the shareholders' communication policy implemented during the year ended 31 December 2024 was open and effective.

## **Environmental, Social and Governance Report**

### **ABOUT THIS REPORT**

Zhonggan Communication (Group) Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2545) (the "Company", together with its subsidiaries, the "Group") was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") on 3 July 2024. The Group is pleased to present the first Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report (the "ESG Report") for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Reporting Period"). The ESG Report mainly focuses on the core businesses of the Group, aiming to outline the progress we have made in creating sustainable value for our shareholders and other stakeholders. This ESG Report is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Group (www.gantongit.com).

## **TIME SCOPE**

The ESG Report is covering the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the "Reporting Period").

### REPORTING BOUNDARY

The ESG Report is based on Zhonggan Communication (Group) Holdings Limited, covering all the subsidiaries of the Company.

Given that the operations of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd. (namely, our headquarters located in Nanchang) accounted for the majority of the Group's results, the scope of the ESG Report is based on the operations of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd. during the Reporting Period after taking into consideration the Group's sales results and operational coverage by the management. The ESG Report summarises the ESG practices of Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd. (i.e. the principal operating subsidiary of the Group) during the Reporting Period. The information contained herein is helpful in understanding and evaluating the Group's ESG performance in its routine business in the PRC. Since the management of the Group considers that the operations of its other subsidiaries have minimal impact on its environmental performance, the ESG Report does not include KPI data of business units other than Zhonggan Communication (Group) Co., Ltd..

### REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report follows the requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange that contains reporting principles of materiality, quantitative and consistency.

Details are set out below:

### **Materiality**

In addition to internal factors, such as the Group's corporate value, strategy and core competitiveness, the Group also attaches importance to communication with the internal and external stakeholders, and considers the ESG strategies of other competitors in the industry, so as to achieve sustainable development. We have identified the following categories that have or may have a significant impact on the Group's ESG performance:

- Market development directions and trends of the communication engineering service industry in the PRC;
- Present or future operational and social environment in which the Group is located;
- Requirements of the laws and regulations related to the industry;
- Financial and operating performance of the Group; and
- Evaluation, decision and action of the Group's stakeholders.

#### Quantitative

The key performance indicators disclosed in the ESG Report are supported by quantified data and measurable standards. The sources of all calculation tools, methods, references and conversion factors applied are disclosed in relevant data presented in this report.

### Balance

The ESG Report presents the Group's performance in 2024 in an impartial manner, avoiding any potential influence on the reader's decision-making or judgment that could be inappropriate due to the selection, omission, or reporting format.

#### Consistency

For comparative purposes of ESG performance in future years, the Group adopts consistent approaches for data collection, calculation and reporting, where reasonable, across all financial years, and records significant changes in detail for the relevant components. In this report, the density of the relevant performance indicator data is calculated based on the number of employees of the Group, unless otherwise indicated.

## **PARTICIPATION OF ROLES**

The Group actively seeks every opportunity to understand our stakeholders in order to guarantee the regular improvement of our services. We strongly believe that stakeholders play a vital role in maintaining the success of our business.

		Communications and
Roles	Issues Concerned	Feedbacks Channels
The Stock Exchange	Compliance with the Listing Rules, and timely and accurate announcements or circulars as required	Participation in meeting, training, company website updates and announcements
Government Departments	Compliance with laws and regulations, prevention against tax evasion and leakage, social welfare, compliance with epidemic prevention requirements and government development planning	Regular inspection tours by government departments, timely and accurate tax declaration, as well as regular communication and feedback with epidemic prevention and development departments
Suppliers	Stabilisation of demand and supply, provision of green products	Business communication with suppliers, signing procurement agreements, regular e-mail and telephone correspondence and regular assessment of suppliers
Investors	Corporate governance system, business strategy and performance, and investment returns	Organizing and participating in seminars, shareholders' meetings, providing financial reports or other reports to investors and analysts
Media and Public	Corporate governance, environmental protection, and human rights	Publishing newsletters on the corporate website and social media platforms
Customers	Product service quality, reasonable price and product values	Regular communication within the business team, field investigation of engineering projects and after-sales services
Employees	Interests and welfare, employee remuneration, training and development, working hours, and working environment	Training, interview with employees, internal memos, and employee's suggestion box
Community	Community environment, employment and community development, and social welfare	Developing community activities, volunteering activities of employees, and community welfare, subsidy and donation

### MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the annual materiality assessment to identify the key ESG issues important to its business. The objective of materiality assessment is to identify ESG issues that are material and relevant to the Group's operation. Reference is made to the ESG Guide to set ESG subject areas and aspects for all stakeholders' assessment. The Group obtains feedback from all stakeholders through various communication channels. Details are set out in the table below:

Item	Low materiality	Item	Medium materiality	Item	High materiality
No.	ESG Issues	No.	ESG Issues	No.	ESG Issues
	'				
1	GHG emission/Global warming	11	Employee rights and benefits	19	Supply chain management
2	Exhaust emission	12	Inclusion, equal opportunity and anti-discrimination	20	Labour standards in the supply chain
3	Energy usage	13	Talent attraction and retention	21	Customer satisfaction
4	Water usage	14	Occupational health and safety	22	Customer privacy
5	Hazardous waste/ Wastewater	15	Training and development	23	Product quality and safety
6	Non-hazardous waste/ Wastewater	16	Measures to prevent child labour and forced labour	24	Economic performance
7	Paper usage	17	Environmental protection	25	Compliance operation
8	Deforestation caused by illegal logging	18	Community investment and participation	26	Corporate governance
9	Use of raw materials and packaging materials			27	Anti-corruption
10	Compliance with laws and regulations related to environmental protection				

As shown above, following the Group's survey and assessment and considering the nature of the Group's business operations, it has been determined that the normal functioning of the Company does not exert a significant impact on the environment. Both internal management and external stakeholders generally agree that the social and operational ESG issues hold greater importance for the Group. Particular emphasis is placed on customer management, customer privacy, economic performance and anti-corruption measures. Consequently, we will focus on the management and continuous improvement of the areas encompassed by these ESG issues. We will be more proactive in maintaining communication with stakeholders and solicit advice from them through different channels to conduct a more comprehensive analysis. Meanwhile, we will revise the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative and consistency as necessary from time to time, so as to comply with reporting requirements and better satisfy expectations of stakeholders on the content and disclosure of the ESG Report.

#### A. **ENVIRONMENT**

Environmental protection should not be an issue of concern only to governments and public welfare organizations. The Group is also committed to doing our utmost to reduce the impact on the environment during the business operation process.

The primary operations of the Group do not involve significant energy consumption, water usage, greenhouse gas emissions, or noise generation.

As a responsible enterprise, the Group strives to minimize the consumption of resources, avoid causing damage to the environment, improve corporate energy efficiency and resource utilization to save costs and promote sustainable development, so as to seize the new green market opportunities.

In terms of environmental protection, the Group consistently adheres to relevant laws and regulations applicable in Mainland China, including the Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic of China and the Energy Conservation Law of the People's Republic of China.

The Group has set environmental goals for 2024.

Relevant aspects	Goals
GHG emission	Maintaining the total GHG emission intensity in 2025 not exceeding the baseline of 2024
Reduction of wastes	Maintaining the total non-hazardous waste intensity in 2025 not exceeding the baseline of 2024
Utilization efficiency of energy	Maintaining the total non-hazardous waste intensity in 2025 not exceeding the baseline of 2024.
Utilization efficiency of water	Maintaining the water consumption per employee in 2025 not exceeding the baseline of 2024.

#### **Emissions** A1.

In the course of our daily operations, the primary emissions generated by the Group include exhaust fumes from employee transportation, greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the use of daily resources (such as water, electricity, and paper), and indirect greenhouse gas emissions from the transportation required for employees' business trips. The Group has taken the following measures to reduce emissions in its operations: (1) ensuring that all business activities related to gas, GHG emissions, and waste management strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations; and (2) continuously monitoring the progress of environmental management measures to ensure compliance with relevant regulations at all times. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance practices related to emissions that would have a significant impact on the Group.

60

#### Air Pollution

Given the Group's aforementioned primary business operations, the activities do not involve the use of gas or fossil fuels. The main source of air pollution emissions for the Group stems from the consumption of automotive fuels by the Group for daily transportation of employees or other business personnel. The air pollutants emitted from burning automotive fuels include nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur oxides (SOx) and particulate matter (PM). During the Reporting Period, details of the air pollutants emitted from automotive fuels due to the Group's business activities are presented in the table below:

		Air Pollutant	Air Pollutant
		<b>Emissions in</b>	Emissions in
Source of Emission	Air Pollution	2023 (kg)	2024 (kg)
		'	
	NOx	0.9	0.8
Vehicle Emissions	SOx	0.02	0.02
	PM	0.07	0.07
Total Air Pollutant Emission	ns	1.0	1.0
Per Capita Air Pollutant E	missions (kg/number of employees)	0.004	0.004

To reduce emissions, the Group requires all the users of the Company's vehicles to switch off the idling engine to avoid unnecessary emission.

### Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") Emission

The continued GHG emissions will cause extremely severe impacts to the environment such as exacerbating global warming and leading to drastic climate changes and will pose great threats to the global ecosystem. Given that the Group's primary business operations do not involve the use of construction equipment for trenching works, and therefore do not involve the combustion of fuels from any stationary or mobile sources, the greenhouse gas emissions generated from the Group's daily operations mainly come from the use of vehicles, the consumption of electrical energy in business activities at the Nanchang headquarters, and indirect greenhouse gas emissions from various other business activities, such as the disposal of waste paper to landfills, the use of electrical energy for processing potable and wastewater, and employees traveling by air for business trips:

According to the Reporting Code on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, greenhouse gas emissions can be categorized into the following three main scopes:

 Scope 1: Covers greenhouse gas emissions directly generated by businesses owned or controlled by the Company, such as greenhouse gas emissions from fuel combustion of stationary sources and mobile sources;

- Scope 2: Covers the "energy indirect" emissions of greenhouse gas from electricity, heat, cooling and steam consumed within the Company, such as greenhouse gas emissions in relation to purchased electricity and/or town gas;
- Scope 3: Covers all other indirect greenhouse gas emissions, including emissions from both upstream and downstream activities, that occur outside the Company, such as methane generated during the process of waste paper being delivered to landfills, electricity consumed by water supply authority for processing fresh water and sewage, etc.

For more details, please refer to the table below:

		Greenhouse	Greenhouse
		gas	gas
		emissions in	emissions in
		2023	2024
Scope	Source of greenhouse gas emissions	(tonne)	(tonne)
Scope 1	Direct GHG emissions from the use of vehicles	3.0	2.8
Scope 2	Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions from purchased electricity	385.5	380
	Waste paper disposed of in the landfill	4.7	4.5
Scope 3	Electricity consumed for the treatment of drinking water and sewage	4.6	4.5
	Business air travel by employees	20.6	20
Data of GHG emissions		418.4	400
Total GHG emissions (tonnes)		1.6	1.5

The Group has adopted the following measures to mitigate GHG emissions: (1) reminding employees to switch off any idle appliances and lighting, and to switch off conference equipment promptly after the conclusion of the meeting; (2) implementing management control to monitor the use of vehicles.

## Waste Management

The Group's business activities did not generate any hazardous waste, and the Group's non-hazardous wastes were mainly produced from paper for printing used in its daily business operation. During the Reporting Period, the Group generated and disposed of approximately 4.5 tons of waste paper to the landfills, with a non-hazardous waste density of about 0.001 tonnes per employee. The Group encouraged staff to save paper, process daily documents by using double-sided printing and to collect recyclable waste paper for reuse. The Group also conducts monitoring and review of the Group's daily business processes and uses electronic documents in place of unnecessary paper documents to reduce the consumption of paper. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance practices related to wastes that would have a significant impact on the Group.

#### Noise Management

In view of the fact that the Group's business is mostly conducted on a manpower basis in conjunction with equipment (telecommunication equipment and wireless equipment) provided by its customers for telecommunication hosting facilities services and smart city solutions services, the Group hardly involves in road excavation or construction works in the course of its business activities and therefore does not involve in any noise pollution situations.

#### A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group recognizes that reducing carbon footprint should start from the source. We not only encourage employees to avoid wasting public resources such as water, electricity and paper in their daily work, but also strive to improve energy efficiency, advocate resource conservation, and enhance the utilization efficiency of energy and resources. Since electricity and water are the primary resources consumed by the Group, we place high priority on the effective use of resources to ensure that no resource wastage occurs in our daily operations.

#### **Energy Consumption**

Given that the Group's business activities scarcely involve the use of any construction equipment for trenching works, and therefore do not involve the use of any gas or fossil fuels, the Group's direct energy consumption primarily comes from the gasoline and diesel required for vehicles operation, while indirect energy consumption mainly stems from the consumption of externally purchased electricity. In 2023, the Group generated and used approximately 5,634.3 kWh and 5,940.0 kWh of energy through the direct consumption of gasoline and diesel, respectively, and the Group's electricity consumption was about 675,934.0 kWh, with a total energy consumption of approximately 687,508.3 kWh, resulting in a per capita energy consumption of about 2,706.7 kWh/person. During the Reporting Period, the Group generated and used approximately 2,300.2 kWh and 1,000.2 kWh of energy through the direct consumption of gasoline and diesel, respectively, and the Group's electricity consumption was about 517,809.0 kWh, with a total energy consumption of approximately 521,109.4 kWh, resulting in a per capita energy consumption of about 2,375.2 kWh/person.

In order to reduce energy consumption (mainly electricity), the Group has posted posters in offices to remind employees to turn off electrical appliances not in use, such as air conditioner and lighting system. The corridors and windows of offices are also designed to channel natural light, and the electrical appliances in offices are mainly energy-saving electrical appliances, so as to reduce the use of electric energy in all aspects. The Group also recommends that the computers used by employees adopt an energy-saving mode power supply scheme, which will automatically enter standby mode if they are not used for a period of time, so as to reduce electricity consumption.

#### Water Resource Consumption

Given the aforementioned primary business operations of the Group, the use of water resources is scarcely involved in the Group's business activities. The Group's water usage is primarily for the office located in Nanchang. In 2023, the Group's water consumption was approximately 7,213.0 m³, with a related water consumption density of about 28.4 m³ per capita. During the Reporting Period, the Group's water consumption was approximately 2,264 m³, with a related water consumption density of about 10.3 m³ per capita.

In terms of measures to reduce water consumption, the Group encourages employees to save water while using the washrooms. This initiative not only reduces the consumption of water resources but also decreases the electricity consumption associated with water supply, thereby lowering the Group's carbon footprint. The Group's administrative staff also conducts regular inspections to check for dripping or leaking faucets, ensuring there is no wastage of water resources. During the Reporting Period, as the Group's water is supplied by the government water supply department, there was no problem in obtaining water sources. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance practices related to water resources that would have a significant impact on the Group.

#### Packaging Materials

Since the Group's primary business is providing communication technology services, packaging materials are not used during the course of business operations.

### A3. THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The resources and energy consumed by the Group's main business activities are mainly water, electricity, diesel and gasoline and the pollution caused by business activities to the environment is mainly small amounts of air pollutants and greenhouse gas emissions. The management of the Group is responsible for overseeing the daily operations by reminding all employees of implementing the Group's energy-saving and emission-reduction measures, criticizing and rectifying the waste of resources, and avoiding unnecessary resource consumption, so as to minimise the adverse impact on the environment. Furthermore, the Group has also obtained the ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management Certification from the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), which affirms the Group's adoption of an environmental management system to control the environmental impact of business activities, demonstrates the Group's achievements made in environmental performance, and recognizes the accomplishments in balancing environmental, social, and economic aspects. In the future, the Group will continue to effectively manage and reduce environmental risks according to the content and requirements of ISO14001:2015, and pay more attention to issues such as environmental pollution, low resource utilization efficiency, improper waste management, climate change, ecosystem degradation, and loss of biodiversity. The Group strives to become an environmentally responsible enterprise and achieve the goal of sustainable development.

#### A4. CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change primarily refers to the long-term changes in temperature and weather conditions caused by the sustained greenhouse effect. The impacts of climate change may also affect the Group to a varying degree, including physical risks (such as the effects of extreme weather) and transitional risks (such as the long-term and sustained impacts brought about by policies, laws, technology, markets, and reputation). Although the greenhouse effect is a natural phenomenon, however, human activities are becoming the main cause of intensifying the greenhouse effect and leading to climate change with the rapid development of economic and industrial activities, especially the consumption of energy and non-renewable resources such as the burning of fossil fuels such as coal, oil and natural gas. As climate change is accompanied by uncertainties and risks in different aspects, incorporating climate factors into the Group's decision-making process will help the Group's business and operations to better adapt to and guard against the impacts brought about by climate change in formulating relevant response plans. In response to the impacts and risks posed by climate change, the management of the Group will assume primary responsibility for identifying and assessing climaterelated risks and impacts. Under the supervision of the Board of Directors, necessary measures will be taken to mitigate the impacts and risks of climate change on the personnel and assets of the Group. Climate change largely brings direct physical risks to the Group, including more frequent and severe natural disasters such as heavy rains, floods, fires or hurricanes. Given that the telecommunications engineering business undertaken by the Group often requires employees or workers to perform tasks outdoors to complete the construction of related communication facilities, hence, extreme weather conditions such as heavy rain, storms, lightning, severe cold and high temperatures can significantly impact employee safety and project progress. This, in turn, affects the Group's operations and increases operating costs. Moreover, since Nanchang City, where the headquarters of the Group are located, situates in the middle and lower reaches of the Yangtze River and suffers from frequent and severe flooding due to heavy rainfall. In response, the Group has strengthened unified leadership over flood prevention efforts in accordance with the Flood Control Law of the People's Republic of China. Mr. Liu Haogiong has been appointed as the responsible leader to oversee and manage the Company's safety measures during flood disasters.

### **B. SOCIAL ASPECTS**

### **B1** Employment

Human resources are the foundation to support the development of the Group. We believe that every employee plays a vital role in executing a good service experience for our customers. We dedicate in offering a pleasant working environment that encourages communication, innovation, continuous learning and fosters employee engagement.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material non-compliance with employment-related laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group such as the Labour Law of the People's Republic of China (《中華人民共和國勞動合同法》), the Labour Contract Law of the People's Republic of China (《中華人民共和國勞動合同法》), the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (《禁止使用童工規定》) and the Law of the People's Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases (《中華人民共和國職業病防治法》). During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with labour laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 218 employees (including directors and senior management). All employees are full-time staff. Employees' composition by gender, age group and job category is shown as follows:

Employee Statistics	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2024
By gender		
Male	190	161
Female	64	57
Total	254	218
	<u>'</u>	
By age group		
18-25	6	4
26-35	102	78
36-45	88	86
46-55	47	36
56-65	10	13
Over 65	1	1
Total	254	218

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
Employee Statistics	2023	2024
By job category		
Front-line employees	217	189
Middle management	23	15
Senior management	14	14
Total	254	218

#### Staff Compensation

The Group offers employees competitive remuneration packages. We believe that fair and reasonable remuneration can effectively serve as a motivational tool for employees, enhancing their enthusiasm, initiative, loyalty, and execution capabilities, conveying positive messages to employees, acknowledging their contributions, and encouraging them to strive for greater achievements, so that employees are inspired to proactively explore their strengths and potential, continuously improve their skills, thereby creating more value for the enterprise and contributing to its healthy development. Furthermore, fair and reasonable remuneration also aids the Group in attracting external talent, which is essential for achieving our goal of continuous expansion and development. The benefits provided by the Group to employees include, but are not limited to, on-the-job training, bonuses, and various subsidies. Additionally, the Group conducts annual performance evaluations based on two key aspects: "key tasks" and "economic indicators," as assessed by the employees' direct supervisors. The results of these evaluations are communicated to the employees, highlighting areas for improvement while encouraging them to set clear development goals. This approach not only motivates employees to continuously progress but also ensures that their performance aligns with the Group's expectations and requirements.

Due to a series of measures implemented by the Group, the overall turnover rate of the Group was approximately 16.5% during the Reporting Period, with all departing employees from Mainland China. When categorized by age group, the average turnover rates were approximately 50.0% (18-25 years old), 30.7% (26-35 years old), 2.3% (36-45 years old), 30.5% (46-55 years old), 23% (56-65 years old), and 0% (above 65 years old). When categorized by gender, the average turnover rates were approximately 18.0% (male) and 12.2% (female).

### **B2.** Health and Safety

#### Work Safety

The health and safety of our employees are always our top priorities. We have established a set of engineering safety policies that outline the requirements and precautions to be observed during engineering projects. These policies guide our employees on how to identify and control risks affecting work safety, aiming to reduce potential accidents and mitigate safety risks. We require our employees to strictly adhere to our safety policies during daily engineering operations. Additionally, we provide all employees with labour protection gear to ensure that employees in production jobs have available and sufficient protective equipment at work, thereby promoting a healthy and safe working environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance practices related to labour health and safety that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Any employee suffering from work-related injuries is entitled to indemnification treatment in accordance with relevant national regulations, and the Group will also provide sufficient work-related injury leave to enable employees to have sufficient rest and recover. During the Reporting Period, the Group has no record of any cases of work-related injuries. During the Reporting Period and the past two financial years, the Group has no record of any work-related fatalities. The Group promises to provide employees with a healthy and safe working environment to the best of our ability in the future.

### **B3.** Development and Training

The progress of the employees is indispensable for the Group's sustainable development. Therefore, the Group provides adequate and effective training for its employees. It also emphasizes that the employees' competency must meet the expectations and requirements of the Group so that they can complement each other. All newly joined employees are subject to a 6-month probationary period and evaluation, during which the department head will provide advice and comments based on their performance to ensure that their abilities and performance meet the Company's standards. We provide internal and external training to its employees to enhance their work abilities from time to time. If any employee does not get satisfactory results in his or her performance appraisal, the Group will consider providing additional training to ensure that every employee can meet the requirements of their positions. In addition, we also provide on-the-job training for front-line staff to familiarize them with the business processes of departments and positions, as well as staff codes such as personnel systems and anti-corruption mechanisms, so that they can more easily integrate into and adapt to the new working environment. After each training course, the Group will listen to the feedback from each employee to improve the training content so as to maximize its effectiveness.

In 2023, the number of employees of the Group who received training was 66, accounting for approximately 26.0% of the total number. Among them, 36 were male employees and 30 were female employees. Categorized by job category, 54 were front-line employees, 9 were middle management personnel, and 3 were senior management personnel. Each middle and senior management personnel received an average of 2 hours of training, while front-line employees received approximately 1 hour of training, with male and female employees receiving the same hours of training.

During the Reporting Period, the number of employees of the Group who received training was 35, accounting for approximately 16.1% of the total number. Among them, 25 were male employees, and 10 were female employees. Categorized by job category, 24 were front-line employees, 8 were middle management personnel, and 3 were senior management personnel. Each middle and senior management personnel received an average of 2 hours of training, while front-line employees received approximately 1 hour of training, with male and female employees receiving the same hours of training.

#### **B4.** Labour Standard

The Group recognises that the employment relationship shall be based on mutual equality, respect, and tolerance. Any form of forced or compulsory labour must be opposed and eradicated. Therefore, we are committed to never threatening any individual with forced labour to work for the Group. Additionally, we recognize the importance of physical, mental and educational development for children in their formative years, and as such, we do not employ child labour in any form. When hiring new employees, our human resources department is responsible for verifying the identity documents of applicants to ensure they meet the legal working age. Beyond prohibiting child labour and forced labour, we strictly adhere to the Labour Law of the People's Republic of China, providing employees with wages that are not less than the local statutory minimum wage. During the reporting year, there were no labour disputes within the Group. We pledge to continue upholding legal standards, and if any employee encounters or discovers violations, he/she can report them to management through our whistleblowing mechanism. The management will treat such matters seriously and take appropriate follow-up actions. In addition to our internal standards, if we find out that any of our clients or suppliers engage in the use of child labour or forced labour, we will terminate our cooperation with the relevant clients or suppliers to express our stance and position on eradicating any form of child labour and forced labour. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any incidents of employing child labor or forced labour.

## **B5.** Supply Chain Management

The communication network engineering, maintenance and optimisation services provided by the Group rely heavily on the construction teams we commission to assist in completing most of our engineering projects. Additionally, we are responsible for procuring the materials and equipment required for these projects. Therefore, we place great emphasis on the management and evaluation of our suppliers. During the Reporting Period, the Group has cooperated with 20 suppliers respectively, all of them are located in Mainland China. We have established stringent evaluation criteria for the selection of suppliers. Project managers conduct thorough reviews and assessments of suppliers before procuring their services or products.

In the process of selecting suppliers, we will evaluate the supplier's company background, business scope, reputation, quality of services or products, and pricing, among other factors, to ensure that the services, materials and goods provided by the suppliers meet the stringent requirements and standards of the Group. The Group will list the suppliers that have passed the above review and inspection into the list of qualified suppliers, and regularly evaluate them every year to check their pricing, quality of services and supplies, efficiency, reliability, punctuality and credit rating. The results of the evaluations conducted by project managers are submitted to the management for approval. Suppliers failing to meet our assessment criteria will no longer be considered for any service or product procurement.

The Group selects reliable suppliers with excellent reputations to provide products and services of high quality, reasonable price and sustainability. The Group has a transparent and independent procurement process in place to enhance competitiveness, which at the same time safeguards the interests of our shareholders and other stakeholders as well.

It is the Group's expectation to cater to the needs of its customers by integrating procurement resources, promoting system for supplier's selection and management to forge a vertically integrated supply chain management system and offer comprehensive solutions actively. Additionally, prior to the commencement of a project, the project department of the Group is responsible for conducting comprehensive briefings with the on-site supervisors and operational personnel of the suppliers. These briefings cover safety requirements, quality standards, technical specifications and environmental protection measures. We mandate that the supplier's operational teams adhere to compulsory safety operation procedures, ensuring that all personnel understand the Group's requirements for project operations, including process implementation, operational safety, and environmental protection.

Before the supplier's operational teams enter the site, the Group arranges training sessions for the supplier's labour personnel on operational standards, management regulations, quality, and work safety. Participation in these training sessions is mandatory, and personnel must pass the associated examinations before they are allowed to commence work. This is to minimise the risk of industrial accidents during production. Throughout the construction process, the Group's project department also conducts random inspections of the operational teams regarding quality and work safety to allow for the timely correction and penalization of any non-compliant operations and ensure the safety of the supplier's labor personnel during the construction process.

## **B6.** Product Responsibility

Timely and high-quality completion of service quality engineering projects is our consistent requirement. We believe this approach helps the Group establish a strong corporate image within the communications engineering industry, fosters ongoing mutual trust with our clients, and supports the long-term development of our enterprise in the future. The engineering projects undertaken by the Group strictly adhere to industry standards and guidelines. We have project supervisors in place to monitor the quality of the projects, and our project managers are responsible for ensuring the quality of project deliverables, guaranteeing that all projects delivered by the Group meet the full range of our clients' requirements.

During the reporting year, we held various recognition certificates issued or awarded to us by different government departments, including but not limited to qualification certificates granted by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the People's Republic of China and the Nanchang Administrative Approval Bureau, such as:

"Grade I General Contracting Qualification for Communication Engineering Construction"

"Grade B in Electronic, Communication and Broadcasting Specialty (Wired Communication, Wireless Communication)"

"Grade II Professional Contracting Qualification for Electronic and Intelligent Engineering"

"Class III Professional Contracting for Steel Structure Engineering"

"Construction Labour Service Qualification (Non-Graded)"

"Class III General Contracting for Construction Engineering"

"Class III General Contracting for Electric Power Engineering Construction"

"Grade III Professional Contracting for Urban and Road Lighting Projects"

"Grade III Professional Contracting Qualification for Environmental Protection Engineering"

# **Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)**

In addition, we have also obtained the ISO9001:2015 Quality Management System Certification awarded by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), demonstrating that the Group has established a sound quality management system to give our customers confidence in the quality assurance of our services.

Since we do not sell products, the key performance indicators for product recalls due to safety and health reasons are not directly relevant to us. Nonetheless, we are committed to ensuring that the engineering projects we deliver do not result in complaints from our clients due to quality issues. Thanks to our effective management and strict quality control over engineering projects, we did not receive any complaints regarding our construction services during the Reporting Period. Should we receive any complaints related to our engineering projects, our project managers are responsible for understanding the nature of the complaints and reporting them to the management. The management will then discuss and formulate responses and solutions, aiming to satisfy our clients with how we handle complaints and to ensure that the issues are properly resolved.

## Observing and Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

As a High and New Technology Enterprise (高新技術企業) accredited by the Jiangxi Province Science and Technology Department (江西省科學技術廳), we constantly encourage and advance the research and development of new technologies related to the telecommunication engineering industry. The Group has established a Technology Research and Development Department, primarily responsible for project research and development, invention patents and the filing of technology research and development of the Group. As an enterprise with its own independent research and development department, we fully understand the importance of observing and protecting intellectual property rights. If the technology we developed and the intellectual property rights we possessed cannot be effectively protected, it will not only harm the Group's interests but also cause investors to lose confidence in the Group. Except for protecting the intellectual property rights of the Group, we also strictly prohibit any infringement of others' intellectual property rights. If any of our employees are found to have infringed on the intellectual property rights of others, we will adopt a zero-tolerance policy and, if necessary, may consider taking legal action. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any significant event on the infringement of intellectual property rights. In addition, we have adopted all reasonable measures to prevent any infringement of the intellectual property rights of third parties.

## Privacy Policy

Confidentiality of sensitive information is of great importance to the Group. Every new employee is required to sign a confidentiality agreement and strictly follow its terms to ensure that every employee understands the Group's confidentiality requirements for sensitive information, including the information of our customers and trade secrets within the Group. Unauthorised disclosure of the information is strictly prohibited to prevent direct or indirect leakage of data. For any unauthorised disclosure of the information within the Group, information of the customers or personal information, the Group will also adopt a zero-tolerance policy and, if necessary, may consider taking legal action.

# **Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)**

## **B7.** Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly prohibits any act of bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering, so as to set up a good commercial operation structure. Dishonest behaviors prohibited by the Group mainly include but are not limited to:

- Offering and accepting bribes;
- Provision of illegal political contributions;
- Improper charitable donation or sponsorship;
- Provision or acceptance of unreasonable gifts, entertainment or other improper interests;
- Other defined misconducts.

The Group requires its employees to strictly abide by the Regulations of the People's Republic of China for Suppression of Corruption, and to make the commitments as follows: while engaging in business practices, employees must not directly or indirectly provide, undertake, require or accept any illegitimate benefits, or carry out other dishonest acts in breach of good faith, law or national regulations, including criminal offences such as corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering, and other acts such as providing illegal political contributions, improper charitable donations or sponsorships, providing or accepting unreasonable gifts, entertainments or other illegitimate benefits, infringing business secrets, trademark rights, patent rights, copyrights and other intellectual property rights, engaging in unfair competition, etc. Employees of the Group are required to report any benefits received, for which the Group will make the final decision and disposal. To raise awareness of anti-corruption among all staff and encourage them to comply with the Code of Ethics, the Group provides anti-corruption training to our directors and employees at all levels from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, neither the Group nor its employees were prosecuted for corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

# **Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)**

#### Anti-money Laundering

The Group has formulated the Anti-Money Laundering Management Measures to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing activities, fulfill legal responsibilities and social obligations related to anti-money laundering, establish and improve management mechanisms for anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing, and maintain the secure and stable operation of the Company's business. These measures outline a series of requirements aimed at combating money laundering, including the preservation of customer identity information and transaction details, procedures for identifying, analyzing, and reporting suspicious transactions, internal audit, training, and awareness requirements, internal procedures for cooperating with anti-money laundering investigations, and confidentiality measures for anti-money laundering work. To ensure the effective implementation and enforcement of the Group's policies and systems related to anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing, we have established a management framework for anti-money laundering. This includes the formation of an Anti-Money Laundering Leadership Group, primarily responsible for the unified deployment of the Group's anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing efforts.

## **B8:** Community Investment

The Group is committed to making a positive impact on its internal and external stakeholders, as well as the communities we interact with through active social or philanthropic investments. As part of the Group's strategic development, the Group is committed to supporting social participation and contribution through public means.

The Group encourages employees to care for and spend time in the local communities through participating in all kinds of social activities such as attending local community activities and charitable donations. Employees are also encouraged to participate in environmental protection activities and promote environmental awareness within the Group. In 2024, the Group organised and participated in a total of three urban public welfare and environmental protection related activities in Jiangxi Province.

# **Independent Auditor's Report**

Independent auditor's report to the members of ZHONGGAN COMMUNICATION (GROUP) HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

#### **OPINION**

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZHONGGAN COMMUNICATION (GROUP) HOLDINGS LIMITED ("the Company") and its subsidiaries ("the Group") set out on pages 82 to 158, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("**HKFRSs**") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("**HKICPA**") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

#### **BASIS FOR OPINION**

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* ("the Code") together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### **KEY AUDIT MATTERS**

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

#### Revenue recognition

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 111.

#### The Key Audit Matter

The Group's revenue is principally derived from provision of infrastructure construction services, which accounted for 86 % of the Group's total revenue for the year.

The Group recognises revenue from provision of infrastructure construction services over time using input method to measure performance progress based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

We identified the recognition of revenue based on performance progress as a key audit matter because revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and may be recorded in an incorrect accounting period to meet performance expectations.

#### How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue included the following:

- obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls over revenue recognition;
- inspecting contracts with customers, on a sample basis, to understand the terms of the transactions including contract amounts, scope of work, construction period and payment terms and assess if the Group's revenue recognition criteria were in accordance with the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
- assessing the reasonableness of the estimated total costs to completion of individual contracts by comparing with total actual amounts incurred till project completion, on a sample basis;

## **KEY AUDIT MATTERS** (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 111.

#### The Key Audit Matter

#### How the matter was addressed in our audit

- recalculating the revenue recognised for individual contracts, on a sample basis, based on the estimated total costs, the costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period and the agreed order price;
- inspecting, purchase invoices and other relevant underlying documentation on a sample basis, for costs incurred during the period to assess whether the costs incurred were accounted for;
- inspecting, purchase invoices and other relevant underlying documentation on a sample basis for costs incurred before and after the financial year end date to assess whether the costs were accounted for in the appropriate period; and
- obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, from major suppliers of the Group to confirm the amount of services provided and purchases during the year and outstanding trade payable balances as at 31 December 2024 and, for unreturned confirmations, performing alternative procedures by comparing with progress reports, completion reports, purchases invoices and contracts.

## **KEY AUDIT MATTERS** (Continued)

#### Expected credit loss allowance for contract assets and trade receivables

Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 144.

#### The Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gross contract assets and trade receivables totalled RMB1,206 million, against which an allowance of RMB45 million for expected credit losses (ECLs) was recorded.

The Group measures the loss allowance for its contract assets and trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. For the contract assets and trade receivables without significant financing components, ECLs are estimated using a provision matrix, which takes into account the ageing of the trade receivable balances and the Group's historical collection experiences. For the trade receivables with significant financing components, the Group assesses the ECLs under a simplified approach individually, based on the customer-specific conditions.

We identified the measurement of the ECL allowance for contract assets and trade receivables as a key audit matter because of the significant balances at the end of the reporting period and determining the level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant management judgement. which is inherently subjective.

#### How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for contract assets and trade receivables included the following:

- obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls relating to estimation of the ECL allowance;
- evaluating the Group's policy and selected methods for estimating the ECLs with reference to the requirements of applicable accounting standards:
- understanding of the key parameters and assumptions that the management uses in its application of the ECL model, and assessing reasonableness of the key assumptions, including the selection of the historical collection data used in management's assessment;
- examining the information used by management to derive such estimates, including assessing whether items in the trade receivables ageing report were categorised in the appropriate ageing bands by comparing individual items therein with relevant underlying documentation, on a sample basis; and
- re-performing the calculation of the ECL allowance as at 31 December 2024 based on the Group's ECL policy.

# INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

# RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

# AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
  appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
  Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

# AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Liu Hin Pan.

## **KPMG**

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
27 March 2025

# **Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income**

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi ("RMB"))

Year	end	ed	31	December	r

		2024	2023
	Note	RMB'000	RMB'000
Revenue	3	551,062	609,301
Cost of sales		(444,835)	(459,982)
Gross profit		106,227	149,319
Other net income	4	7,194	5,018
Selling expenses	4	(3,514)	(3,298)
Administrative expenses		(45,350)	(38,474)
Research and development expenses		(25,729)	(25,873)
			<u> </u>
Profit from operations		38,828	86,692
Finance costs	5(a)	(15,325)	(16,682)
Profit before taxation	5	23,503	70,010
Income tax	6(a)	(13,794)	(1,339)
Profit for the year		9,709	68,671
Other comprehensive income for the year		-	_
Total comprehensive income for the year		9,709	68,671
Attributable to:			
Equity shareholders of the Company		9,709	68,592
Non-controlling interests		-	79
Profit for the year/Total comprehensive income			
for the year		9,709	68,671
-	1		
Earnings per share			
Basic and diluted (RMB)	9	0.02	0.14



For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)

## As at 31 December

		2024	2023
	Note	RMB'000	RMB'000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	10	24,301	34,003
Intangible assets		139	_
Investment property	11	31,474	18,841
Interests in associates	12	7,424	7,424
Trade receivables	15(a)	4,822	27,136
Deferred tax assets	23(b)	24,332	6,513
		92,492	93,917
Current assets			
Inventories and other contract costs	13	442	11,240
Contract assets	14(a)	961,682	726,829
Trade and other receivables	15(a)	208,780	244,601
Other financial assets		-	34
Pledged bank deposits	16	3,201	3,193
Cash and cash equivalents	17	134,963	81,540
		1,309,068	1,067,437
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables	18	570,357	677,514
Contract liabilities	14(b)	6,905	4,795
Lease liabilities	19	129	145
Bank borrowings	20	373,476	347,458
Current taxation	23(a)	25,011	1,258
		975,878	1,031,170
Net current assets		333,190	36,267
Total assets less current liabilities		425,682	130,184

# **Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)**

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)

Λ.	<b>~</b> +	24	$D_{c}$	cem	hor

	710 000 1 2 0000111001		
		2024	2023
	Note	RMB'000	RMB'000
	·		
Non-current liabilities			
Lease liabilities	19	_	129
Deferred income	21	1,778	1,833
		1,778	1,962
NET ASSETS		423,904	128,222
CAPITAL AND RESERVES			
Share capital	24(b)	58,465	83
Share premium	24(c)	111,985	12,112
Reserves	24(d)	253,454	116,027
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders			
of the Company		423,904	128,222
Non-controlling interests		-	_
TOTAL EQUITY		423,904	128,222

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025.

Mr. Liu Haoqiong

Director

Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang

Director

The notes on pages 87 to 158 form part of these financial statements.

# **Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity**

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)

	Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company								
						Accumulated			
					PRC	losses/		Non-	
		Share	Share	Other	statutory	Retained		controlling	Total
	Note	capital	premium	reserve	reserve	profits	Total	interests	equity
		RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
		Note 24(b)	Note 24(c)	Note 24(d)(i)	Note 24(d)(ii)				
Balance at 1 January 2023		82	12,119	76,108	9,170	87,777	185,256	2,018	187,274
Changes in equity for the year ended									
31 December 2023									
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year		-	-	-	-	68,592	68,592	79	68,671
Arising from reorganisation		1	(7)	(76,108)	-	(49,512)	(125,626)	(2,097)	(127,723)
Appropriation to PRC statutory reserves					6,933	(6,933)			
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024		83	12,112	-	16,103	99,924	128,222	-	128,222
Changes in equity for the year ended									
31 December 2024									
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year		_	_	_	_	9,709	9,709	_	9,709
Issue of ordinary shares by initial public offering,						.,	,		, , , ,
net of listing expenses	Note 24(b)(iii)	14,619	143,636	_	_	_	158,255	_	158,255
Effect of the capitalisation issue	Note 24(b)(ii)	43,763	(43,763)	_	_	_	_	_	_
Arising from reorganisation	- ( ), (	_	-	127,718	_	_	127,718	_	127,718
Appropriation to PRC statutory reserves		<u>-</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>-</u>	2,461	(2,461)		<u>.</u>	
Balance at 31 December 2024		58,465	111,985	127,718	18,564	107,172	423,904		423,904

The notes on pages 87 to 158 form part of these financial statements.

# **Consolidated Cash Flow Statement**

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)

Year	ended	31	December	
IEai	cilucu	o i	December	

		rear ended 31 L	receimber
		2024	2023
	Note	RMB'000	RMB'000
Operating activities			
Cash (used in)/generated from operations	17(b)	(97,564)	58,231
Income tax paid	23(a)	(5,580)	(9,793)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	. – – – – –	(103,144)	48,438
Investing activities			
Payment for purchase of equity interest in subsidiaries			
arising from the Reorganization		(139,837)	_
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment		(5,615)	(863)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		74	_
Interest received		441	180
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets		37	_
Payment for purchase of other financial assets		-	(23)
Net cash used in investing activities		(144,900)	(706)
Financing activities			
Capital element of lease rentals paid	17(c)	(145)	(172)
Interest element of lease rentals paid	17(c)	(9)	(15)
Proceeds from bank borrowings	17(c)	373,000	397,000
Repayment of bank borrowings	17(c)	(347,000)	(425,000)
Increase in pledged bank deposit	16	(8)	(64)
Interest paid	17(c)	(15,298)	(16,400)
Capital injection from shareholders	24(d)(i)	127,718	12,119
Proceeds from ordinary shares by initial public offering		182,732	_
Payment of listing expenses		(19,654)	(2,275)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities		301,336	(34,807)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		53,292	12,925
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January	17(a)	81,540	68,646
Effect of foreign exchange		131	(31)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December	17(a)	134,963	81,540

The notes on pages 87 to 158 form part of these financial statements.

## **Notes to the Financial Statement**

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

#### 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

### (a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

#### (b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "**Group**") and the Group's interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and completion of the group reorganisation mentioned below, the business was carried out by Zhonggan Communication Company Limited and its subsidiaries. To rationalize the corporate structure in preparation of the listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group underwent the group reorganisation (the "Reorganisation"), which only involved inserting newly formed investment entities with no substantive operations as holding companies of Zhonggan Communication, and there were no changes in the economic substance of the ownership, business and operations of the Group before and after the Reorganisation.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

### (c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group, none of the developments have had a material effect on how the Group's results and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

#### (d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests ("**NCI**") either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share of the subsidiary's net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the company. NCI in the results of the group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the equity shareholders of the company. Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with notes 1(p) depending on the nature of the liability.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(k)(ii)).

#### (e) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale). They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income ("OCI") of those investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method, together with any other long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group's net investment in the associate, after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests where applicable (see note 1(k)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company's statement of financial position, an investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(k)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (f) Investment property

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the costs of investment properties, less its residual value of 5%, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 40 years. Both the useful life and residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described in note 1(u)(ii)(a).

## (g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(k)(ii)):

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

_	Buildings	10-40 years
_	Machinery	5 years
_	Motor vehicles	8 years
_	Office and other equipment	3 years
-	Right-of-use assets (see note 1(j))	15-36 months

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (h) Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings and plant under construction and machinery and equipment under installation and testing, and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss, if any (see note 1(k)(ii)). The cost includes the direct costs of construction, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time as the assets are completed and ready for operational use, after which the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in note 1(g).

### (i) Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete development and to use or sell the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Other intangible assets, that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

- Software 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

#### 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### Leased assets (i)

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease, A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

#### (i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and non-lease components, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(g) and 1(k)(ii)).

92

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (j) Leased assets (Continued)

#### (i) As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost. Any excess of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in "property, plant and equipment" and presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statements of financial position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

## (ii) As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating leases is recognised in accordance with note 1(u)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described in note 1(j)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

#### (i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- a. financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits and trade and other receivables); and
- b. contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note 1(m)).

#### Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect of discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract assets: effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof; and
- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and
- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

#### (i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
   and
- other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased significantly since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
- the financial asset is 2 years past due.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

#### (i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument's credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in non-equity securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position (see note 1(k)).

#### Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the group on terms that the group would not consider otherwise;
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

#### (i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

#### (ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment property, inventories and other contract costs, contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units ("**CGU**"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated and reduced the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## (k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

#### (iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)(i)).

This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

## (I) Inventories and other contract costs

#### (i) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of business, in the process of production for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## (I) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

#### (i) Inventories (Continued)

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

#### (ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory (see note 1(I)(i)) or, property, plant and equipment (see note 1(g)) or intangible assets (see note 1(i)).

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are incurred only because the Group entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in note 1(u).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see note 1(u)) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(k)(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional (see note 1(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see note 1(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note 1(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

#### (n) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 1(m)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method and including an allowance for credit losses (see note 1(k)(i)).

#### (o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

#### (p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (q) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loan and borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 1(w)).

## (r) Employee benefits

#### Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

## (s) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable on the taxable income and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid that reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
  business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
  give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
  extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
  and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (s) Income tax (Continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

## (t) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (u) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group's business.

#### (i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation in a contract. A performance obligation represents a distinct good or service that is transferred by the Group to the customer, and is satisfied when the customer obtains control over that distinct good or service. The Group recognises revenue, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following conditions is met: (i) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs; (ii) the customer is able to control goods in the progress during the Group's performance; (iii) the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point of time when the customer obtains control over the relevant goods or services.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the customer, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of time value of money by using a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

- (u) Revenue and other income (Continued)
  - (i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Provision of infrastructure construction services

The Group recognises revenue from provision of infrastructure construction services over time because the Group's construction activities create or enhance assets controlled by the customers. The Group adopts the input method to measure performance progress and revenue is recognised based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs. Where the performance progress cannot be determined reasonably, revenue is recognised based on the amount of cost that is expected to be compensated based on the cost already incurred, until the performance progress can be reasonably determined.

The likelihood of the Group suffering settlement amount adjustments resulting from final completion inspection and project settlement audit are taken into account in making these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The Group applies the most likely amount approach to estimate such variable consideration by considering the single most likely amount in a limited range of possible consideration amounts, taking into account the Group's current progress and adjustment rates over historical periods.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

- (u) Revenue and other income (Continued)
  - (i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
    - (b) Provision of digitalisation solution services

In this business model, the Group provides the following 3 types of services based on customer needs:

(i) Integrated solution services

The Group designs and provides integrated IT solutions for the customers by integrating different hardware and software based on the service specifications of the customers. The Group develops the integrated IT solutions at the sites designated by the customers. As the Group's performance creates or enhances assets that the customers control as the Group performs, the Group recognises revenue over time. The Group adopts the input method to measure performance progress and revenue is recognised based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs. Where the performance progress cannot be determined reasonably, revenue is recognised based on the amount of cost that is expected to be compensated based on the cost already incurred, until the performance progress can be reasonably determined.

(ii) System maintenance service

The Group offers optional system maintenance service to provide on-site support to the customers of the integrated solution services. If the customer chooses to purchase system maintenance service, the Group allocates the transaction price to the integrated solution services and system maintenance services. As the Group does not sell the system maintenance service separately, it uses expected cost plus a margin approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price of the system maintenance service. Revenue from the system maintenance service is recognised over time on a straight-line basis as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the Group performs and the Group's efforts are expended evenly during the on-site support period.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

#### (i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

- (b) Provision of digitalisation solution services (Continued)
  - (iii) Software solution services

In this service type, the Group grants a licence to customers which allow them to use the software developed by the Group. As the software has standalone functionality and the Group will not undertake future activities that will significantly change the functionality of the software, the Group recognises revenue from the software licensing at a point in time when the customers are able to use the software.

#### (c) Provision of maintenance services in relation to infrastructure

The Group provides maintenance and repair services to fix and rectify technical issues for infrastructure owned by third parties within their contracted period. Revenue from maintenance and repair service is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Additionally, the Group provides emergency and sporadic repair and maintenance service for customers case by case, the Group recognises revenue upon the completion of the emergency and sporadic service because the service is completed within one day.

#### (ii) Other income

(a) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

## (u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

#### (ii) Other income (Continued)

#### (b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

#### (c) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised by setting up the grant as deferred income that is recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

## (v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

#### (x) Related parties

- (a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Group if that person:
  - (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
  - (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
  - (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
- (b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
  - (i) The entity and the Group are members of the same Group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
  - (ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity is a member).
  - (iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
  - (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
  - (v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group.
  - (vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
  - (vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
  - (viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

The Group operates in a single business segment, accordingly, no segmental analysis is presented.

### 2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing these financial statements. The principal accounting policies are set forth in note 1. The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

#### (a) Loss allowances of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets by assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecasted general economic conditions at the end of reporting period. The Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of trade receivables and contract assets during their expected lives.

#### (b) Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of deductible temporary differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised, management's judgement is required to assess the probability of future taxable profits. Management's assessment is revised as necessary and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

#### (c) Revenue recognition

As explained in policy note 1(u)(i), revenue from infrastructure construction services and integrated solution services are recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date.

Based on the group's recent experience and the nature of the construction activities undertaken by the Group, the Group has made estimates of the point at which it considered the work was sufficiently advanced such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably measured. Until this point is reached the related contract assets disclosed in note 14 do not include profit which the group might eventually realise from the work done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

#### (d) Value added tax (the "VAT") and income tax

The Group generates revenue from the provision of infrastructure construction services, digitalisation solution services and maintenance services to customers. The Group is subject to VAT and income tax in Chinese Mainland. Evaluation of relevant tax positions of the Group involves judgment as to the interpretation and application of the relevant tax laws. The Group has exercised the best judgement of its tax obligations based on current facts and circumstances.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 3 REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of infrastructure construction services, digitalisation solution services and maintenance services for customers in the PRC.

### (i) Disaggregation of revenue

Year	ended	31	December
------	-------	----	----------

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Revenue from contracts with customers within		
the scope of HKFRS 15  Disaggregated by major products or service lines		
Disaggregated by major products or service lines		
Revenue from telecommunications		
infrastructure services		
- infrastructure construction services	474,822	463,367
- infrastructure maintenance services	35,878	37,990
Revenue from digitalisation solution services		
<ul> <li>integrated solution services</li> </ul>	812	41,258
<ul> <li>system maintenance services</li> </ul>	7,870	470
- software solution services	31,680	66,216
	551,062	609,301
Disaggregated by timing of revenue recognition		
- Over time	511,607	520,288
- Point in time	39,455	89,013
	551,062	609,301

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 3 REVENUE (Continued)

#### (i) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Revenue from major group customers which accounts for 10% or more of the Group's revenue are set out below:

#### Year ended 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Customer A	332,720	297,250
Customer B	124,793	126,362
Customer C	N/A*	132,080
	457,513	555,692

<sup>\*</sup> Less than 10% of the Group's revenue in the respective years.

Details of concentration of credit risk are set out in note 25(a).

(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group's existing digitalisation solution services contracts is RMB872,000 (2023: RMB1,274,000). The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future when or as the service is provided, which is expected to occur over the next 1 to 2 years (2023: next 1 to 3 years).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15 such that the above information does not include information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the contracts that had an original expected duration of one year or less.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 4 OTHER NET INCOME

#### Year ended 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Interest income (note (i))	380	1,354
Bank deposit interest income	441	180
Government grants (note (ii))	4,482	3,248
Rentals income from investment properties less direct outgoings	669	642
Share of profits of associates	_	74
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)	1,219	(732)
Others	3	252
	7,194	5,018

#### Notes:

- The interest income is attributable to the significant financing benefit to the Group for contracts containing a financing component in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 1(u).
- (ii) The government grants mainly represent awards from Jiangxi government authorities attributable to (i) the recognition of the Group's efforts in reducing corporate costs and optimising development environment, (ii) as subsidies for the Group's research and development activities, (iii) as reward of "specialized, special and new" enterprise and (iv) software VAT refund upon collection.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

		Year ended 31 December		
		2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000	
(a)	Finance costs			
(u)	Interest on bank borrowings	15,316	16,660	
	Interest on contract contains a financing component	-	7	
	Interest on lease liabilities	9	15	
	The foot of fload madmidde		10	
		15,325	16,682	
(b)	Staff costs			
	Salaries, discretionary bonus and allowance	24,886	24,459	
	Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan			
	(note 22)	1,858	2,625	
		26,744	27,084	
(c)	Other items			
	Depreciation			
	- property, plant and equipment (note 10)	1,714	1,517	
	- investment property (note 11)	555	526	
	- right-of-use assets (note 10)	202	284	
	Amortisation	14	_	
	Impairment losses/(reversal)			
	- trade receivables (note 15)	14,840	12,426	
	- contract assets (note 14(a))	2,549	(1,158)	
	- other receivables (note 15)	1,850	426	
	Short-term and low-value assets lease charges	356	292	
	Research and development costs (excluding staff cost)	14,399	15,037	
	Labour cost (note (i))	421,884	411,768	
	Cost of inventories (note (ii))	137	23,807	
	Listing expense	11,558	8,566	

### Notes:

- (i) The Group engages labour suppliers to supplement the Group's labor force in performing labour intensive projects.
- (ii) Cost of inventories mainly include the cost of hardware used for the provision in digitalisation solution services.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Current tax		
Provision for the year	20,757	(16,132)
Under-provision in respect of prior years (vi)	10,856	-
Deferred tax		
Origination and reversal of temporary differences		
(note 23(b))	(17,819)	17,471
	13,794	1,339

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	RMB'000	RMB'000	
Profit before taxation	23,503	70,010	
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated			
at the rates applicable to profits in the countries			
concerned (notes (i), (ii) and (iii))	6,525	17,503	
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax treatments			
(notes (iv) and (vi))	(1,538)	(13,817)	
Tax effect of additional deduction on research and			
development costs (note (v))	(3,719)	(2,966)	
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised	1,261	_	
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses	409	619	
Others (note (vi))	10,856	_	
Actual tax expense	13,794	1,339	

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates: (Continued)

Notes:

- (i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.
- (ii) No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made, as the subsidiary of the Group incorporated in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits which are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 and 2023.
- (iii) The subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC is subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax rate at the statutory rate of 25%.
- (iv) The PRC Corporate Income Tax Law allows enterprises to apply for certificate of "High and New Technology Enterprise" ("**HNTE**") which entitles the qualified companies to a preferential income tax rate of 15%, subject to fulfilment of the recognition criteria. Zhonggan Communication was qualified as an HNTE since 2015, Jiangxi Gelapu Technology Company Limited was qualified as an HNTE since 2020, and these qualifications have remained valid for 2024.
- (v) According to the relevant tax rules in the PRC, qualified research and development costs are allowed for bonus deduction for income tax purpose, as a result, an additional 100% of the qualified research and development costs could be deemed as deductible expenses in 2024.
- (vi) In accordance with the relevant PRC Corporate Income Tax laws, implementation regulations and guidance notes, a subsidiary qualified as "State Encouraged Software Enterprise" was entitled to tax concessions whereby the profit of this subsidiary was fully exempted from corporate income tax for the first two years from the profit-making year and a 50% reduction on corporate income tax for the next subsequent three years. The qualification for "State Encouraged Software Enterprise" of this subsidiary was revoked by the Department of Industry and Information Technology of Jiangxi Province in December 2024. Accordingly, the Group has made a provision for corporate income tax amounted to RMB10,856,000 for the 2023 taxable income of this subsidiary and the corresponding late payment surcharges of RMB1,162,000 in 2024.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors' emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year	ended	31	December	2024
------	-------	----	----------	------

		Salaries,			
		allowances		Retirement	
	Directors'	and benefits	Discretionary	scheme	
	fees	in kind	bonuses	contributions	Total
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
<b>Executive directors</b>					
Mr. Liu Haoqiong (ii)	-	403	-	7	410
Mr. Liu Dingli (ii)	-	384	-	7	391
Mr. Peng Shengqian (ii)	-	149	-	5	154
Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang (ii)	-	251	-	7	258
Ms. Xie Xiaolan (ii)	-	192	-	-	192
Mr. Liu Dingyi (ii)	-	151	-	7	158
Independent non-					
executive directors					
Mr. Yu Shiyong (i)	-	72	-	-	72
Mr. Zhu Yugang (i)	-	72	-	-	72
Mr. Li Yinguo (i)	-	-	-	-	-
	-	1,674	-	33	1,707

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year	ended	31	December	2023
1 Gai	CHUCU	O I	Decelline	2020

		Salaries,			
		allowances		Retirement	
	Directors'	and benefits	Discretionary	scheme	
	fees	in kind	bonuses	contributions	Total
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Executive directors					
Mr. Liu Haoqiong	_	404	_	7	411
Mr. Liu Dingli	_	382	_	7	389
Mr. Peng Shengqian	_	169	_	20	189
Mr. Zhou Zhiqiang	_	193	_	7	200
Ms. Xie Xiaolan	_	192	_	_	192
Mr. Liu Dingyi	_	150	_	7	157
	_	1,490	_	48	1,538

#### Notes:

There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

<sup>(</sup>i) On 17 June 2024, Mr. Yu Shiyong, Mr. Zhu Yugang and Mr. Li Yinguo were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company.

<sup>(</sup>ii) All executive directors acted as key management personnel of the Group and the emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by them as key management personnel of the Group.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments two (2023: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2023: three) individuals are as follows:

2024	2023
RMB'000	RMB'000

Year ended 31 December

	HIVID 000	HIVID 000
Salaries and other emoluments	1,122	858
Retirement scheme contributions	36	21
	1,158	879

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group are within the following band:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	Number of	Number of	
	individuals	individuals	
Nil - HK\$1,000,000	3	3	

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of RMB9,706,000 (2023: RMB68,592,000) and the weighted average of 559,342,000 ordinary shares (2023: 478,101,000 shares after adjusting for the capitalisation issue in 2024 (see Note 24(b)(ii))) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares.

Voor	ended	21	Dace	mhar
TEAL	encea			

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January	1,011	1,000
Effect of ordinary shares issued for reorganisation	-	7
Effect of capitalisation issue (note 24(b)(ii))	478,989	477,094
Effect of issue of ordinary shares by initial public offering		
(note 24(b)(iii))	79,342	_
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December	559,342	478,101

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, therefore diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

				Office					
			Motor	and other		Right-	Construction		
	Buildings RMB'000	Machinery RMB'000	vehicles RMB'000	equipment RMB'000	Sub-total RMB'000	of-use assets RMB'000	in progress RMB'000	Total RMB'000	
As at 1 January 2023	24,378	804	1,797	3,112	30,091	529	1,920	32,540	
Additions	-	150	-	110	260	388	13,311	13,959	
Transfer from construction in progress	2,321	<u>-</u>		41	2,362		(2,362)		
As at 31 December 2023 and									
1 January 2024	26,699	954	1,797	3,263	32,713	917	12,869	46,499	
Additions	195	-	-	4,883	5,078	-	384	5,462	
Transfer from construction in progress	-	-	-	65	65	-	(13,253)	(13,188)	
Disposals	-	-	(1,198)	-	(1,198)	(236)	-	(1,434)	
As at 31 December 2024	26,894	954	599	8,211	36,658	681	-	37,339	
Accumulated depreciation:									
As at 1 January 2023	(5,559)	(761)	(1,643)	(2,580)	(10,543)	(152)	-	(10,695)	
Charge for the year	(1,313)	(41)	-	(163)	(1,517)	(284)	-	(1,801)	
As at 31 December 2023 and									
1 January 2024	(6,872)	(802)	(1,643)	(2,743)	(12,060)	(436)	-	(12,496)	
Charge for the year	(1,326)	(32)	_	(356)	(1,714)	(202)	-	(1,916)	
Disposals	_	-	1,138	_	1,138	236	-	1,374	
As at 31 December 2023 and									
1 January 2024	(8,198)	(834)	(505)	(3,099)	(12,636)	(402)	·	(13,038)	
Net book value:									
	10 606	120	0.4	E 110	04.000	070		04 004	
As at 31 December 2024	18,696		94	5,112	24,022	279	- 40,000	24,301	
As at 31 December 2023	19,827	152	154	520	20,653	481	12,869	34,003	

#### Notes:

- (i) All property, plant and equipment owned by the Group are located in the PRC.
- (ii) The Group has obtained the right to use certain staff dormitory through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 15 to 36 months. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.
- (iii) As at 31 December 2024, buildings with a carrying amount of RMB18,696,000 (2023: RMB19,827,000) were pledged to secure the Group's bank borrowings (note 20).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

	Buildings
	RMB'000
Cost:	
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	22,125
Transfer from construction in progress	13,188
At 31 December 2024	35,313
Accumulated amortisation:	
At 1 January 2023	(2,758)
Charge for the year	(526)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	(3,284)
Charge for the year	(555)
At 31 December 2024	(3,839)
Net book value:	
At 31 December 2024	31,474
At 31 December 2023	18,841

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every 2-3 years to reflect market rentals. Certain leases include variable lease payment terms that are based on the revenue of tenants.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of investment properties as determined by the independent valuers amounted to RMB38,712,000 (2023: RMB26,407,000).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, investment property with a carrying amount of RMB18,313,000 (2023: RMB18,841,000) was pledged to secure the Group's bank borrowings (note 20).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place at each reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

As at	31	December
-------	----	----------

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Within 1 year	1,566	1,183
After 1 year but within 2 years	1,982	1,227
After 2 years but within 3 years	1,985	1,242
After 3 years but within 4 years	2,066	1,242
After 4 years but within 5 years	2,081	1,242
After 5 years	18,787	15,934
	28,467	22,070

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

#### 12 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not available:

			Propor	tion of ownership inte	rest		
			Particulars of				
	Form of	Place of	issued and	Group's			
	business	incorporation	paid-up capital/	effective	Held by	Held by	Principal
Name of associate	structure	and business	registered capital	interest	the Company	a subsidiary	activity
Jian Qingyoupu Information	Incorporate	PRC	RMB Nil/	49%	-	49%	Yet to commence
Technology Limited			RMB5,000,000				business activities
(吉安青優普信息科技有限公司)							
Jiangxi Wanpuxing Information	Incorporate	PRC	RMB Nil/	49%	-	49%	Digitalisation
Technology Limited			RMB10,000,000				solution services
(江西灣普興科技有限公司)							

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

	As at 31 December	
	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates		
in the consolidated financial statements	7,424	7,424
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of those associates'		
Profit from continuing operations	-	74
Post-tax profit or loss from discontinued operations	-	-
Other comprehensive income	-	_
Total comprehensive income	-	74

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 13 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

#### As at 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Inventories		
- Hardware	442	520
- Software	-	265
	442	785
Other contract costs (note)	-	10,455
	442	11,240

#### Notes:

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2024 relate to the suppliers costs incurred in fulfilling construction contracts with customers. Contract costs are recognised as part of cost of sales in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which revenue is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB10,455,000 (2023: RMB16,407,000). There was no impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised during the year (2023: nil).

All of the inventories and capitalised contract costs are expected to be recovered within one year.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

#### (a) Contract assets

	As at 31 December		
	2024	2023	
	RMB'000	RMB'000	
Contract assets			
Arising from performance under provision of			
telecommunications infrastructure services			
<ul><li>third parties</li></ul>	965,774	728,392	
Less: loss allowance	(4,503)	(1,957)	
	961,271	726,435	
Arising from performance under provision of			
digitalisation solution services			
- third parties	451	431	
Less: loss allowance	(40)	(37)	
Ecos. 1000 anowarioc	(40)	(01)	
	444	00.4	
	411	394	
	961,682	726,829	
Described to the second			
Receivables from contracts with customers within			
the scope of HKFRS 15, which are included	400 -0-	0.40.005	
in "Trade and other receivables" (note 15)	199,507	249,995	

The Group's contract assets consist of project money and retention money.

The payment billing of project money is normally conditional on the Group's work satisfactorily passing the customers' final inspection. On the other hand, revenue arising from such contracts are recognised based on their performance progress or upon completion in accordance with the accounting policies in note 1(u).

Given that the respective considerations can only be collected upon the Group's work satisfactorily passing the customers' final inspection, the difference between the revenue recognised based on the Group's accounting policies and the collection of consideration is recognised as a contract asset until the Group's work satisfactorily passes the customers' final inspection. As at 31 December 2024, project money held as contract assets amounted to RMB959,399,000 (2023: RMB724,004,000).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

#### (a) Contract assets (Continued)

The amount of revenue recognised during the year from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods is RMB1,686,000 (2023: RMB81,000), mainly due to the changes in estimate of the stage of completion of certain construction contracts.

The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered after more than one year were primarily relates to retention money and project money from Infrastructure Construction Services. The project money and retention money were expected to be covered by 6 to 36 months and 12 to 60 months, which due to prolonged inspection, acceptance, and settlement audit processes by the customers.

The Group also typically agrees to retain 3% to 10% of the contract value as retention money for one to five years upon the completion of work. These amounts are included in contract assets until the end of the retention period as the Group's entitlement to these final payments are conditional on the proper functioning of the Group's projects throughout the retention period. As at 31 December 2024, retention money held as contract assets amounted to RMB2,283,000 (2023: RMB2,825,000).

Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from contract assets are set out in note 25(a).

#### (b) Contract liabilities

	As at 31 December	
	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Contract liabilities		
Billings in advance of performance	6,905	4,795

#### Movements in contract liabilities

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Balance at 1 January  Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising	4,795	7,644
revenue during the year that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the period Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in	(4,795)	(7,644)
advance of construction	6,905	4,795
Balance at 31 December	6,905	4,795

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, billings in advance of performance are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

### (a) Trade and other receivables of the Group

2024	2023
RMB'000	RMB'000
228,859	247,109
11,106	28,504
(40,458)	(25,618)
194,685	222,859
4,822	27,136
8,910	9,872
(4,496)	(2,646)
4,414	7,226
203,921	257,221
112	109
-	2,280
2,743	2,006
-	4,822
6,826	5,299
	228,859 11,106  (40,458)  194,685 4,822  8,910  (4,496)  4,414  203,921 112 - 2,743 -

213,602

271,737

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

#### (a) Trade and other receivables of the Group (Continued)

Notes:

- (i) Apart from the non-current trade receivables as stated above, all of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
- (ii) As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables and contract assets amounted to RMB951,457,000 (2023: RMB624,886,000) were pledged as security for bank borrowings (see note 20).
- (iii) Other receivables represented tender deposits and performance deposits which will be released to the Group upon the award and the completion of the relevant projects as the case may be.
- (iv) VAT recoverable represented input tax to be certified and deducted.

#### Ageing analysis

An ageing analysis of trade receivable, based on the transaction date or invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Within 6 months	93,406	120,668
More than 6 months but within 12 months	31,398	88,135
More than 12 months but within 18 months	57,883	39,978
More than 18 months but within 24 months	6,079	13,570
More than 24 months	51,199	13,262
Trade receivables	239,965	275,613
Less: loss allowance	(40,458)	(25,618)
	199,507	249,995

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

#### (a) Trade and other receivables of the Group (Continued)

#### Ageing analysis (Continued)

Trade receivables related to project money from telecommunications infrastructure services are normally due within 90 days from the date of billing. As at 31 December 2024, project money receivable related to telecommunications infrastructure services amounted to RMB70,069,000 (2023: RMB69,712,000).

Trade receivables related to project money from digitalisation solution services are normally due within 90 days from the completion of work, and the Group has undertaken a few Integrated Solution Services projects for which a payment term of three to five years have been granted, which were provided at the special request of the customers. As at 31 December 2024, project money receivable related to digitalisation solution services amounted to RMB125,359,000 (2023: RMB175,224,000).

Retention money is normally be settled within 90 days of the end of the retention period. As at 31 December 2024, retention money receivable amounted to RMB4,079,000 (2023: RMB5,059,000).

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 25(a).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 16 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

#### As at 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Pledged for bank borrowings (note 20)	1,102	1,110
Pledged for bank facilities (note 20)	2,089	2,073
Pledged for letter of guarantee	10	10
	3,201	3,193

The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of bank borrowings and the maturity of bank facilities and letter of guarantee.

### 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statements comprise:

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Cash at bank and on hand	134,963	81,540
	134,963	81,540

At 31 December 2024, cash that is placed with banks in the Mainland China amounted to RMB113,903,000 (2023: RMB54,859,000). Remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

#### (b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (used in)/generated from operations:

#### Year ended 31 December

		2024	2023
	Note	RMB'000	RMB'000
Profit before taxation		23,503	70,010
Adjustments for:			
Depreciation	5(c)	2,471	2,327
Amortisation	5(c)	14	_
Interest expenses on bank borrowings			
and leases	5(a)	15,325	16,675
Interest income from bank deposit	4	(441)	(180)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and			
equipment, other financial assets	4	(17)	(2)
Impairment losses recognised	5(c)	19,239	11,694
Share of profits of associates	4	-	(74)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss		(131)	31
Changes in working capital:			
Decrease in inventories and			
other contract costs		10,798	8,955
Decrease in trade and other receivables		16,945	27,337
Decrease/(increase) in non-current			
trade receivables		17,398	(11,940)
Increase in contract assets		(237,402)	(186,026)
Increase in trade and other payables		32,679	120,090
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities		2,110	(2,849)
Decrease in pledged deposits with banks		_	2,237
Decrease in deferred income		(55)	(54)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations		(97,564)	58,231

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)

#### (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

	Bank	Lease	
	borrowings	Liabilities	Total
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
	note 20	note 19	
As at 1 January 2023	375,198	58	375,256
Changes from financing cash flows:			
Proceeds from new bank borrowings	397,000	_	397,000
Repayment of bank borrowings	(425,000)	_	(425,000)
Interest paid	(16,400)	_	(16,400)
Capital element of lease rentals paid	_	(172)	(172)
Interest element of lease rentals paid		(15)	(15)
Takel also are a from financing cook flows	(44.400)	(4.07)	(44.507)
Total changes from financing cash flows	(44,400)	(187)	(44,587)
Other changes			
Interest expense (note 5(a))	16,660	15	16,675
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into			
new leases during the year	_	388	388
As at 31 December 2023			
and 1 January 2024	347,458	274	347,732

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

### (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

	Bank borrowings RMB'000 note 20	Lease Liabilities RMB'000 note 19	Total RMB'000
Changes from financing cash flows:			
Proceeds from new bank borrowings	373,000	-	373,000
Repayment of bank borrowings	(347,000)	-	(347,000)
Interest paid	(15,298)	-	(15,298)
Capital element of lease rentals paid	-	(145)	(145)
Interest element of lease rentals paid	-	(9)	(9)
Total changes from financing cash flows	10,702	(154)	10,548
Other changes			
Interest expense (note 5(a))	15,316	9	15,325
As at 31 December 2024	373,476	129	373,605

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Trade payables		
- third parties	454,338	438,053
Accrued payroll	4,675	4,049
Amounts due to shareholders (note 26(d))	2,800	144,861
Amounts due to associates (note 26(d))	7,350	7,350
Other tax payables	94,389	76,186
Other payables and accruals	6,805	7,015
	570,357	677,514

#### Notes:

- (i) The above trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.
- (ii) Other tax payables primarily comprised VAT payables.

An ageing analysis of trade payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the transaction date, is as follows:

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Within 1 year	311,847	327,691
Over 1 year but within 2 years	85,597	68,215
Over 2 years but within 3 years	24,373	20,938
Over 3 years	32,521	21,209
	454,338	438,053

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

#### 19 LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Within 1 year or on demand	129	145
After 1 year but within 2 years	-	129
	129	274

### 20 BANK BORROWINGS

### (a) The Group's bank borrowings are repayable as follows:

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Within 1 year or on demand	373,476	347,458

### (b) Assets pledged as security and covenants for bank loans and overdrafts

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Unsecured bank borrowings	90,123	50,074
Secured bank borrowings	283,353	297,384
	373,476	347,458

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 20 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (b) Assets pledged as security and covenants for bank loans and overdrafts (Continued)

The bank borrowings are secured by certain assets of the Group and the carrying amounts of these assets are as below:

As at 31	December
----------	----------

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment (note 10)	18,696	19,827
Investment property (note 11)	18,313	18,841
Trade receivables and contract assets (note 15)	951,457	624,886
Bank deposits pledged for bank borrowings (note 16)	1,102	1,110
Bank deposits pledged for bank facilities (note 16)	2,089	2,073
	991,657	666,737

The amount of bank borrowings secured by assets of the Group and the shareholders, or guaranteed by the shareholders and their close family member, the key management personnel and their close family member of the Group (together, the "Affiliated Individuals") are as below:

As at 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
	RIVID 000	RIVID UUU
Secured by trade receivables and contract assets of the Group  Secured by bank deposits, trade receivables, contract assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property of the Group, secured by the properties of	170,206	170,223
shareholders and guaranteed by Affiliated Individuals	113,147	127,161
	283,353	297,384

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 20 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (b) Assets pledged as security and covenants for bank loans and overdrafts (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings from China Construction Bank Corporation, Nanchang Xihu Branch amounted to RMB113,147,000 (2023: RMB127,161,000) are subjected to loan covenants based on Zhonggan Communication's balance sheet ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If Zhonggan Communication were to breach the covenants, the bank borrowings would become payable on demand.

Zhonggan Communication's loan covenants based on its balance sheet ratios had been breached as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Further details of the Group's management of liquidity risk are set out in note 25(b).

#### 21 DEFERRED INCOME

	Government
	grant
	RMB'000
As at 1 January 2023	1,887
Amortisation credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss and	
other comprehensive income	(54)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024	1,833
Amortisation credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss and	
other comprehensive income	(55)
As at 31 December 2024	1,778

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

#### 22 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

#### **Defined contribution retirement plans**

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC participate in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes (the "**Schemes**") organised by the PRC municipal government authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes based on a percentage of the participating employee's salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated with the Schemes beyond the contributions described above.

# 23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#### (a) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated statements of financial position:

	As	at	31	Decemi	ber
--	----	----	----	--------	-----

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
At the beginning of the year	(1,022)	24,903
Provision for the year (note 6(a))	31,613	(16,132)
Income tax paid	(5,580)	(9,793)
At the end of the year	25,011	(1,022)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of		
financial position:		
Current tax payable	25,011	1,258
Current tax prepayment (note 15(a))	-	(2,280)
	25,011	(1,022)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

#### (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

#### (i) Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax arising from:	Accrued expenses RMB'000	Significant financing component RMB'000	Credit loss allowances RMB'000	Depreciation charge of property, plant and equipment RMB'000	Right-of- use assets RMB'000	Lease liabilities RMB'000	Deferred income RMB'000	Cumulative tax losses RMB'000	Total RMB'000
As at 1 January 2023	20,552	292	2,785	120	(57)	9	283	_	23,984
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss	(18,948)	(185)	1,677	(24)	(15)	32	(8)	-	(17,471)
As at 31 December 2023									
and 1 January 2024	1,604	107	4,462	96	(72)	41	275	-	6,513
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss	13,883	(58)	3,276	(25)	31	(22)	(8)	742	17,819
As at 31 December 2024	15,487	49	7,738	71	(41)	19	267	742	24,332

#### (ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Net deferred tax asset in the consolidated statement		
of financial position	24,332	6,513

#### (c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB7,641,000 (2023: Nil) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

#### (d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

The Group did not recognise deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC dividend withholding tax relating to certain undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, since the Group controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries. Based on the assessment of the management, as at 31 December 2024, the undistributed profits amounted to RMB107,172,000 (2023: RMB99,924,000) would not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

## 24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

#### (a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of the Group's consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company's individual components of equity are set out below:

	Share capital RMB'000	Share premium RMB'000	Other reserve RMB'000	Total RMB'000
Balance at 1 January 2023	82	12,119	344	12,545
Changes in equity for 2023:				
Loss and total comprehensive				
income for the year	_	_	(336)	(336)
Shares issued for reorganisation	1	(7)		(6)
Balance at 31 December				
2023 and 1 January 2024	83	12,112	8	12,203
Changes in equity for 2024:				
Loss and total comprehensive				
income for the year	_	_	(5,586)	(5,586)
Issue of ordinary shares by				
initial public offering, net of				
listing expenses	14,619	143,636	_	158,255
Effect of the capitalisation issue	43,763	(43,763)		
Balance at 31 December				
2024	58,465	111,985	(5,578)	164,872

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

#### (b) Share capital

		2024			2023	
	No. of			No. of		
	shares			shares		
	(000)	HK'000	RMB'000	('000)	HK'000	RMB'000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:						
At 1 January	1,011	101	83	1,000	100	82
Shares issued	-	-	-	11	1	1
Capitalisation issue	478,989	47,899	43,763	_	-	-
Issue of ordinary shares by						
initial public offering	160,000	16,000	14,619	_	_	_
At 31 December	640,000	64,000	58,465	1,011	101	83
Authorised:						
HK0.1 each share	1,000,000	100,000		1,011	101	

#### (i) Authorised share capital

Pursuant to the written resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 17 June 2024, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK\$101,126 divided into 1,011,260 Shares to HK\$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares by the creation of an additional 998,988,740 Shares with effect from the Listing Date.

#### (ii) Capitalisation issue

Pursuant to the written resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 17 June 2024, the capitalisation issue of an amount of HK\$47,898,874.9 (equivalent to approximately RMB43,763,000) standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company and the appropriation of such amount to pay up in full at par 478,988,749 shares for allotment and issue to the existing shareholders with effect from the Listing Date.

#### (iii) Issue of ordinary shares by initial public offering

On 3 July 2024, the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, where 160,000,000 shares of HK\$0.01 each were issued and subscribed at a price of HK\$1.25 each. The Company received the net proceeds of HK\$173,050,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB158,255,000), after deducting all capitalized listing expenses. Out of the net proceeds from the listing, RMB14,619,000 and RMB143,636,000 were recorded in share capital and share premium accounts, respectively.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

#### (c) Share Premium

As at 31 December 2024, share premium represented the difference between the total amount of the par value of shares issued and the amount of the net proceeds received from the initial public offering, net of related listing expenses.

#### (d) Nature and purpose of reserves

#### (i) Other reserve

Other reserve represented the contribution surplus by a shareholder of a subsidiary pursuant to the Reorganisation of the Group.

#### (ii) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to transfer 10% of its net profit each year to the statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before distributions to equity holders. This reserve can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increase capital of the subsidiary and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

#### (e) Dividends

No dividends were paid or declared by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in 2024.

### (f) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, except as disclosed in note 20, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group's business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

### (a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks, for which the Group considers to have a low credit risk. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables and contract assets and other receivables.

Trade receivables and contract assets comprise project money and retention money. Project money is transferred from contract assets to trade receivables when the Group's work satisfactorily passes inspection. Trade receivables related to project money from telecommunications infrastructure services are normally due within 90 days from the date of billing. Trade receivables related to project money from digitalisation solution services are normally due within three to five years. Retention money is transferred from contract assets to trade receivables at the end of the retention period (which is normally due within one to five years upon the completion of work). Trade receivables related to retention money are normally due within 90 days from the end of retention period. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers. As at 31 December 2024, 72.61% (2023: 69.66%) of total trade receivables and contract assets were due from the Group's largest customer, and 96.59% (2023: 98.90%) of total trade receivables and contract assets, were due from the five largest customers.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

#### (a) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. When reasonable and supportable information to measure lifetime ECLs on individual trade receivables and contract assets is available, the Group measures loss allowances for those trade receivables and contract assets on an individual basis. As the Group's historical credit loss experience indicate different loss patterns between project money and retention money, the loss allowance is further distinguished between project money and retention money.

The following table provides information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets related to project money:

As at 31 December 2024

		Gross	
	Expected	carrying	Loss
	loss rate	amount	allowance
	%	RMB'000	RMB'000
Current	0.41%	1,026,900	4,232
Less than 6 months past due	3.44%	29,429	1,011
More than 6 months but less than			
12 months past due	12.10%	34,127	4,129
More than 12 months but less than			
18 months past due	30.38%	4,948	1,503
More than 18 months but less than			
24 months past due	42.94%	10,816	4,644
More than 24 months past due	100.00%	7,036	7,036
		1,113,256	22,555
Provision on individual basis (note)		81,920	17,794
, , ,		•	
Total		1,195,176	40,349

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (a) Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

		Gross	
	Expected	carrying	Loss
	loss rate	amount	allowance
	%	RMB'000	RMB'000
Current	0.18%	831,587	1,482
Less than 6 months past due	2.04%	38,468	786
More than 6 months but less than			
12 months past due	8.40%	19,664	1,652
More than 12 months but less than			
18 months past due	24.76%	206	51
More than 18 months but less than			
24 months past due	47.97%	2,614	1,254
More than 24 months past due	100.00%	6,149	6,149
		898,688	11,374
Provision on individual basis (note)		93,791	12,165
Total		992,479	23,539

Note: Some of the trade receivables related to project money from digitalisation solution services were modified with extended payment terms. In general, the payment terms were extended for three months to two years from the original due dates. In view of the renegotiated payment schedules, the Group had individually assessed the loss allowances from these contracts.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (a) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets related to retention money:

As at 31 December 2024

	Expected loss rate %	Gross carrying amount RMB'000	Loss allowance RMB'000
Current Past due	20.04% 50.00%	2,855 8,159	572 4,080
Total		11,014	4,652

### As at 31 December 2023

	As at of December 2020			
		Gross		
	Expected	carrying	Loss	
	loss rate	amount	allowance	
	%	RMB'000	RMB'000	
Current	19.88%	3,526	701	
Past due	40.00%	8,431	3,372	
Total		11,957	4,073	

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the recent past years and forward-looking information. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables and contract assets during the Track Record Period is as follows:

#### As at 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Balance at the beginning of the year Impairment losses recognised	27,612 17,389	16,344 11,268
Balance at the end of the year	45,001	27,612

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (a) Credit risk (Continued)

#### Other receivables

The following table provides information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other receivables related to tender bonds and performance bonds:

As at 31 December 2024

	Expected	Gross carrying	Loss
	loss rate	amount	allowance
	%	RMB'000	RMB'000
Current	8.94%	1,991	178
Past due	74.85%	5,769	4,318
Total		7,760	4,496

As at 31 December 2023

, 10 41 0 1 2 000 11.1501 2020			
	Gross		
Expected	carrying	Loss	
loss rate	amount	allowance	
%	RMB'000	RMB'000	
'			
5.54%	4,221	234	
51.95%	4,643	2,412	
	8,864	2,646	
	loss rate % 5.54%	Expected carrying loss rate amount % RMB'000  5.54% 4,221 51.95% 4,643	

In determining ECLs for other receivables related to tender deposits and performance deposits, the management of the Group has taken into account the historical default experience and forward-looking information, as appropriate. The management of the Group has assessed that the risk of default of other receivables was not material.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (b) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and communicate with major financial institutions to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities as at 31 December 2024 of the Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current as at 31 December 2024) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

As a	at :	31	Decem	ber	2024
------	------	----	-------	-----	------

	Contractu			
	Within	More than		
	1 year or	1 year but less		Carrying
	on demand	than 2 years	Total	amount
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Bank borrowings	379,817	-	379,817	373,476
Trade payables	454,338	-	454,338	454,338
Amounts due to shareholders	2,800	-	2,800	2,800
Amounts due to associates	7,350	-	7,350	7,350
Other payables and accruals	101,194	-	101,194	101,194
Lease liabilities	129	-	129	129
	945,628	-	945,628	939,287

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

	Contractu	outflow		
	Within	More than		
	1 year or	1 year but less		Carrying
	on demand	than 2 years	Total	amount
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Bank borrowings	354,382	_	354,382	347,458
Trade payables	438,053	_	438,053	438,053
Amounts due to shareholders	144,861	_	144,861	144,861
Amounts due to associates	7,350	_	7,350	7,350
Other payables and accruals	83,201	_	83,201	83,201
Lease liabilities	145	131	276	274
	1 007 000	404	1 000 100	1 001 107
	1,027,992	131	1,028,123	1,021,197

### (c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from loans and borrowing. Borrowings issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

### (i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group's loans and borrowings at the end of each reporting period:

As	at	31	De	cem	ber
----	----	----	----	-----	-----

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Fixed rate borrowings:		
Bank borrowings	(203,270)	(177,235)
Lease liabilities	(129)	(274)
	(203,399)	(177,509)
Variable rate borrowings:		
Bank borrowings	(170,206)	(170,223)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

### (c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

### (ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group's profit for the year and retained profits by approximately RMB1,447,000 (2023: RMB1,447,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's profit for the year and retained profits that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.

### (d) Currency risk

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group's monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the management consider the Group's exposure to currency risk is not significant. The Group does not employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

#### (e) Fair value measurement

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

### (a) Name and relationship with related parties

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the directors are of the view that the following are major related parties of the companies now comprising the Group:

Name of party	Relationship
Mr. Liu Haoqiong	Controlling shareholder of the Group
Ms. Tao Xiulan	Controlling shareholder of the Group
GT & Yangtze Limited	Company owned as to 70.0% by Mr. Liu Haoqiong
	and as to 30.0% by Ms. Tao Xiulan, respectively
Mr. Liu Dingli	Non-controlling shareholder of the Group
Huat Huat Limited	Company wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Dingli
Mr. Liu Dingyi	Non-controlling shareholder of the Group
Octuple Hills Limited	Company wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Dingyi
Ms. Yeung Hoi Ka	Non-controlling shareholder of the Group
Jian Qingyoupu Information Technology	Associate of the Group
Limited ("Jian Qingyoupu")	
Jiangxi Wanpuxing Information	Associate of the Group
Technology Limited	
("Jiangxi Wanpuxing")	
Ms. Tao Hailan	Close family member of the controlling shareholder,
	Ms. Tao Xiulan
Ms. Chen Jingyuan	Close family member of a key management
	personnel, Mr. Xiao Wei
Mr. Zhang Jimao	Key management personnel
Mr. Wang Hao	Key management personnel
Ms. Chai Wenxin	Key management personnel
Mr. Xiao Wei	Key management personnel

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

### (b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company's directors as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

As at 31 December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Short-term employee benefits Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan	3,398 70	3,189 89
	3,468	3,278

Total remuneration is included in "staff costs" (see note 5(b)).

#### (c) Material transactions with related parties

The Group enter into the following material related party transactions as follows:

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Non-recurring transactions:		
Non-trade related:		
Repayment from/advance from related parties		
– Mr. Liu Haoqiong	7,770	19,500
- Ms. Yeung Hoi Ka	2,800	1,378
– Mr. Liu Dingli	-	206
– Jiangxi Wanpuxing	-	4,900
- Jian Qingyoupu	-	2,450
- Ms. Chai Wenxin	-	40
- Mr. Wang Hao	-	33
	10,570	28,507

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Liu Haoqiong made a cash contribution of RMB127,718,000 to a subsidiary of the Group and the cash received by the subsidiary were used to settle the amounts due to certain former shareholders of the subsidiary. The amounts due were related to acquisition of the subsidiary by the Group as part of the Reorganisation.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

### (c) Material transactions with related parties (Continued)

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Repayment to/advance to related parties		
- Mr. Liu Haoqiong	12,770	14,500
– Mr. Liu Dingli	-	206
- Ms. Chai Wenxin	-	40
- Mr. Wang Hao	-	33
- Octuple Hills Limited	-	1
	12,770	14,780

### (d) Balances with related parties

### (i) Amounts due from related parties

#### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Non-trade related		
Other receivables		
– Ms. Tao Hailan	28	28
- GT & Yangtze Limited	69	68
- Huat Huat Limited	7	6
- Octuple Hills Limited	8	7
	112	109

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

### (d) Balances with related parties (Continued)

#### (ii) Amounts due to related parties

As	at	31	December

	2024 RMB'000	2023 RMB'000
Man Anada malakad		
Non-trade related		
Other payables		
– Jiangxi Wanpuxing	4,900	4,900
- Jian Qingyoupu	2,450	2,450
- Ms. Yeung Hoi Ka	2,800	_
– Mr. Liu Haoqiong	-	5,000
	10,150	12,350

The balance with these related parties are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

### (e) Bank borrowings guaranteed by related parties

### As at 31 December

	2024	2023
	RMB'000	RMB'000
Non-trade in nature		
Bank borrowings guaranteed by		
- Ms. Tao Hailan, Mr. Xiao Wei and Ms. Chen Jingyuan	113,147	127,161
	113,147	127,161

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 27 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Δς	at	31	December
<b>M</b> 3	aı	O I	December

		2024	2023
	Notes	RMB'000	RMB'000
Non-current assets			
Investment in a subsidiary		12,119	12,119
Current assets			
Other receivables	(i)	159,878	84
Cash and cash equivalents		19	-
Current liabilities			
Other payables	(ii)	7,144	-
Net current assets		152,753	84
Total assets less current liabilities		164,872	12,203
NET ASSETS		164,872	12,203
CAPITAL AND RESERVES			
Share capital	24(b)	58,465	83
Share premium	24(c)	111,985	12,112
Reserves		(5,578)	8
TOTAL EQUITY		164,872	12,203

<sup>(</sup>i) As at 31 December 2024, other receivables are mainly related to amounts due from subsidiaries.

<sup>(</sup>ii) As at 31 December 2024, other payables are amounts due to subsidiaries related to listing expense paid by subsidiaries on behalf of the Company.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

### 28 SUBSIDIARIES

	Place and	date of paid-up capital/ ( oration/ registered e			rtion of ip interest		
Company name	date of incorporation/ establishment		Group's effective interest	Held by the Company	Held by the subsidiary	Principal activities	
Directly held							
Zhonggan Communication (BVI) Holding Co.,Ltd.	British Virgin Islands (BVI)/ 24 May 2022	US\$1/ US\$50,000	100%	100%	-	Investment holding	
Indirectly held							
Zhonggan Communication Hong Kong Limited (中贛通信香港有限公司)	Hong Kong/ 9 June 2022	HK\$1/HK\$1	100%	-	100%	Investment holding	
Jiangxi Zhongge Communication	PRC/	HK\$176,039,334/	100%	_	100%	Investment holding	
Company Limited (" <b>Jiangxi Zhongge</b> ") (江西中歌通信有限公司) (notes (i) and (ii))	18 July 2022	HK\$222,806,837					
Zhonggan Communication Company Limited (中贛通信 (集團) 有限公司) (notes (i) and (iii))	PRC/ 23 May 2002	RMB65,522,636/ RMB65,522,636	100%	-	100%	Infrastructure Construction Services/ Smart City Solution Services/ Maintenance Services	
Jiangxi Gelapu Technology Company Limited (江西戈拉普科技有限公司)	PRC/ 30 November 2017	RMB30,000,000/ RMB30,000,000	100%	-	100%	Services Smart City Solution Services	
(notes (i) and (iii)) Gantong Communication (Jiangxi) Company Limited (贛通通信 (江西) 有限公司) (notes (i) and (iii))	PRC/ 28 October 2019	RMB10,000,000/ RMB10,000,000	100%	-	100%	Yet to commence business activities	
Gantong Communication (Xiamen) Company Limited (贛通通信 (厦門) 有限公司) (notes (i) and (iii))	PRC/ 12 November 2021	RMB Nil/ RMB1,000,000	100%	-	100%	Yet to commence business activities	
Jiangxi Gelapu Software Company Limited (江西歌拉普軟件有限公司) (notes (i) and (iii))	PRC/ 11 February 2022	RMB Nil/ RMB5,000,000	100%	-	100%	Smart City Solution Services	

#### Notes:

- (i) The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English name is for identification purpose only.
- (ii) This entity was registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Law.
- (iii) These entities were registered as domestic enterprises under the PRC Law.

### 29 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

As at 31 December 2024, the directors considered the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group to be Mr. Liu Haoqiong and Ms. Tao Xiulan. As at 31 December 2024, the immediate controlling shareholder of the Company is GT & Yangtze Limited, which was incorporated in the BVI and does not produce financial statements available for public use.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

# 30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

	Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates – Lack of exchangeability	1 January 2025
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: disclosures – Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments	1 January 2026
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11	1 January 2026
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements	1 January 2027
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures	1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far, the Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.